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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right, it's

          3  time to play ball. Good morning, and welcome. My

          4  name is Lou Fidler, I'm the Chairman of the Youth

          5  Services Committee. Before I give my opening

          6  statement, I want to introduce the members of the

          7  Council that are here.

          8                 Councilman Oddo from Staten Island,

          9  Councilman Martinez from Manhattan, and the

         10  Committee staff is to my right, Laura Popa, Perry

         11  Stein and Michael Polenberg.

         12                 Today the Youth Services Committee

         13  will consider Intro. 100, a measure which if enacted

         14  into law would amend the Administrative Code of the

         15  City of New York by prohibiting the use of non-wood

         16  bats by minors in competitive baseball games.

         17                 We will not be taking a vote on this

         18  bill today, but it is our intention to present the

         19  balance hearing on the pros and cons of this

         20  measure.

         21                 Since its inception, baseball has had

         22  a special place in the life of New Yorkers.

         23                 Everyone is well aware of the rich

         24  history professional baseball has had here, a love

         25  affair that stretches from the 1880s to the present.
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          2  Historians can argue over who and where this great

          3  game was invented, but no one can deny that many of

          4  baseball's most cherished moments, the majesty of

          5  Babe Ruth, Bobby Thompson's shot heard around the

          6  world, the heroic dignity displayed by Jackie

          7  Robinson, and my personal favorite, the miracle of

          8  the 1969 Mets were played out here in New York City.

          9                 However, in this town baseball is

         10  more than a spectator's sport. It's a game that we

         11  love to play and a game that we play well and a game

         12  we play hard.

         13                 This was brought home to all of us

         14  this year by the tremendous and inspiring

         15  performance of the Harlem Little League, their

         16  outstanding efforts remind us that our City is a hot

         17  bed of youth baseball. Indeed, my own home, both of

         18  my boys play Little League Baseball, and as hard as

         19  it may be to envision today, as a child I played it

         20  too.

         21                 Considering the place the game of

         22  baseball has in the life of our City, it's easy to

         23  see why issues relating to the safety of those who

         24  play this sport are important. So, today we turn our

         25  focus to Intro. 100.
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          2                 As I previously stated, under the

          3  terms of this bill it would be unlawful for minors

          4  participating in competitive baseball games held in

          5  the City of New York to choose non-wood bats.

          6  Competitive games would be defined as "any organized

          7  game where certified umpires are present."

          8                 This bill would effect games

          9  conducted by such groups as Little League, Babe Ruth

         10  League, American Legion, the Public School Athletic

         11  League, and the Catholic High School Athletic

         12  Association.

         13                 Since 1971, aluminum and other

         14  non-wood bats have almost completely replaced wooden

         15  bats at amateur and youth baseball competitions.

         16  There is little doubt that the use of non-wood bats

         17  has added to the offensive nature of the game, with

         18  increased run production and higher batting averages

         19  commonplace.

         20                 Some have contended that non-wood

         21  bats have introduced the risk factor that is

         22  inconsistent with the safe conduct of the sport. The

         23  belief is that the ball charges off the metal bat,

         24  often swung with a greater bat speed, with greater

         25  velocity. Therefore, the positioned players closest
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          2  to the plate, particularly the pitcher, are at

          3  greater risk. They point to a number of anecdotal

          4  stories that tell of pitchers who have been

          5  seriously injured by balls hit off non-wood bats.

          6                 Other parties contend that there is

          7  absolutely no scientific evidence that conclusively

          8  demonstrates that the introduction of non-wood bats

          9  has resulted in an unreasonable risk of injury to

         10  children and youth who play the game of baseball.

         11  They point to statistics that demonstrate that in

         12  recent seasons the injury rate in leagues that use

         13  non-wood bats have actually decreased.

         14                 They also point to the risks inherent

         15  in wood bats which often break or splinter, and

         16  certainly the most graphic recollection we have here

         17  in New York in the World Series in 2000, when Mike

         18  Bioses' bat splintered off and Roger Clemmens heaved

         19  it in Big Mike's direction.

         20                 Has anyone noticed that I'm a Met fan

         21  yet?

         22                 I am not, as we enter this hearing,

         23  convinced, but I have promised and I believe that

         24  the Committee should maintain and keep an open mind,

         25  before we affect a multi-million dollar industry and
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          2  before we put our youth sports leagues to the

          3  enormous financial expense, at a time when money is

          4  scarce, of replacing their stock of bats, we need to

          5  be absolutely certain. It has to be proven that

          6  there is a higher risk to our children.

          7                 If it is proven, then we're obligated

          8  to act. But really only if it's proven.

          9                 We're joined by Councilman Vann from

         10  Brooklyn as well. I am going to give the leading

         11  proponent of the legislation, Councilman James Oddo,

         12  an opportunity to make a statement and to play a

         13  videotape which he feels will put the case for his

         14  legislation before you.

         15                 Councilman Oddo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 Let me just begin by saying I hope

         19  that the fact that we're both Mets' fans is not the

         20  only thing that we agree upon by the end of the day.

         21                 I would like to begin by extending to

         22  Speaker Gifford Miller and to you, Mr. Chairman, my

         23  deepest appreciation for scheduling this hearing and

         24  allowing for a public discussion of an issue that at

         25  first blush might seem a bit unusual for the halls
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          2  of this hollow chamber.

          3                 Moreover, given some of the recent

          4  less than flattering articles about the Council's

          5  interest in issues outside the traditional purview

          6  of this body, I'm particularly appreciative.

          7                 The uninitiated may believe that with

          8  all of the various complex issues before the City of

          9  New York, it's a bit odd that a member of the City

         10  Council has become fixated on the dangers of

         11  high-tech bats. Let me be perfectly clear,

         12  unapologetic, and dare I say a bit defiant right

         13  from outset, that with all due respect to past and

         14  present members of this body, this legislation is

         15  not a repeat of the infamous ferret bill. Simply

         16  put, this is an issue of safety. And the value one

         17  places on this bill is predicated on the value one

         18  places on the health, safety and well-being of young

         19  people.

         20                 My interest in this issue stems from

         21  the fact I am a passionate baseball fan. But perhaps

         22  it also results from having had a mother stand in my

         23  office depicting what it was like to watch her son

         24  die on an athletic field before her very eyes.

         25                 Not a baseball diamond, mind you, but

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  I know that no parent should experience a similar

          3  pain.

          4                 Or maybe it's because having one

          5  conversation with Mr. Jack MacKay, former bat maker

          6  for Louisville Slugger, and now one of the leading

          7  proponents to eliminate these lethal weapons from

          8  our game, will do that to you, and this Committee

          9  will hear from Mr. MacKay shortly.

         10                 While we might not be nominating Mr.

         11  McKay for sainthood, his story is most compelling.

         12  So, why are we here? In a word, money.

         13                 I asked that during the course of

         14  this hearing my colleagues in the media keep in mind

         15  that often used phrase "just follow the money."

         16  Aluminum bats - well, not exactly. These are not

         17  your father's aluminum bats. Graphite and aluminum

         18  combinations, bats with pressurized air chambers and

         19  batters, triple wall bats with coil spring steel,

         20  bats made of scandium and other highly-advanced

         21  materials. Bats developed on a cryogenic process

         22  where they are frozen at unGodly temperatures,

         23  electric bats that convert vibrations into energy to

         24  lengthen the bat's sweet spot. Triple 7 alloys, COR

         25  titanium, gen 1X alloy, patented tricell, multi-wall
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          2  barrel, C405 octane, C55 acolite (phonetic). It's

          3  enough to make one think that John Hillerich, who in

          4  1884 watched Pete "the Gladiator" Browning star

          5  outfielder of the Louisville Eclipse of the

          6  Professional American Association, watch him break

          7  his favorite bat, take him to his dad's woodworking

          8  shop and work through the night with Browning often

          9  looking over his shoulder to shape a piece of light

         10  ash into a new bat. It's enough to make one think

         11  that John Hillerich is spinning in his grave at

         12  today's progress.

         13                 All of this for a game that was

         14  designed for and around wood. Is this baseball? Are

         15  these the tools we want in the hands of our little

         16  leaguers and our high school athletes? The bats have

         17  become lighter, the swings quicker, and here's the

         18  crucial part, the balls are traveling off these bats

         19  faster and further, all with a seemingly blatant

         20  disregard for the safety of the players.

         21                 Our youngsters, the young people that

         22  make up your district and my district across this

         23  City and across this nation, for that matter,

         24  literally do not have enough time to protect

         25  themselves from line drives sprung from the latest
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          2  innovation of Easton and Louisville Slugger.

          3                 There is an arms race taking place

          4  among bat companies in America, and each year a new

          5  generation featuring ALCOA's latest alloy are

          6  featured.

          7                 So, why does the City Council need to

          8  be involved? Anyone who has played sports, myself

          9  included, assumes the risk inherent in the game, and

         10  we all know full well that we may get injured.

         11  Injuries are simply a part of the game. We accept

         12  those risks. Yet, when those risks become

         13  unreasonable, when a 14-year-old kid from Staten

         14  Island playing third base who simply couldn't get

         15  his glove up in front of his face and is considered

         16  lucky when he loses two teeth and has 40 stitches,

         17  something has to be done. And the tragic reality is

         18  that the very organization that is charged with the

         19  responsibility of protecting our youngsters and

         20  student athletes, namely the NCAA, Williamsport

         21  Little League, who received millions of dollars

         22  annually from bat manufacturers, have stood on their

         23  hands. The proverbial fox is guarding the chicken

         24  coop. Money is their end game, money is the

         25  overriding factor, and money concerns displaced
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          2  safety concerns.

          3                 By the way, here are a few

          4  predictions. You're going to hear the opponents

          5  testify about injury data, including from the NCAA,

          6  and I make you a bet, I bet you a hotdog you're

          7  going to hear this number, everyone remember this

          8  number, 76. You're going to hear about 76 percent. I

          9  can't wait until they testify to that so we can blow

         10  a hole in that argument.

         11                 If you think about it, the story is

         12  remarkably similar. If I said to the Chairman, to my

         13  colleague Miguel Martinez, and to anybody in the

         14  media, guess what industry I'm talking about, and I

         15  said to you that it starts with an unsafe product,

         16  it's manipulated to achieve a specific purpose, the

         17  manufacturer has full knowledge of its dangers, the

         18  safety considerations are ignored, there's some

         19  cosmetic and disingenuous changes that are offered

         20  in hopes that the overseeing entities will be

         21  satisfied, there are half-truths, there is deception

         22  and there are lies, kids and teenagers make up the

         23  largest portion of the target audience, and, yes, of

         24  course, there's money. I would bet that each and

         25  every one of you would say I was talking about big
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          2  tobacco. Oh, yes, and then there's an insider, a guy

          3  who was part of the industry who now tells a story

          4  about the horrors, if I said that to you, you would

          5  say it was big tobacco. I'm not trying to equate the

          6  carnage of big tobacco with the efforts of the likes

          7  Easton and Louisville Slugger, the two main

          8  manufacturers of high-tech aluminum bats, but to

          9  allow profits to flout safety yet again, even if the

         10  issue is falsely couched in the glory of America's

         11  past time is simply wrong.

         12                 The fact remains that tee ballers,

         13  the softball players from American Legion Leagues,

         14  the Division 1 Athletes, boys, girls, young men and

         15  women are being placed in danger for no real reason

         16  other than money. The science is irrefutable,

         17  injuries and deaths are real, and the story is

         18  waiting to be told today, and I hope through direct

         19  testimony and questioning of other witnesses we can

         20  demonstrate that to you.

         21                 There should not have been a Megan

         22  Canker in order for there to be a Megan's Law, nor

         23  should it have taken the death of Jenna Grashaber

         24  for there to be a Jenna's law. I've been researching

         25  this issue for 15 months. I'm committed preventing a
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          2  young person in the Gill Hodges Little League in

          3  Brooklyn, or the New Springle Little League in

          4  Staten Island from becoming maimed or killed and

          5  becoming a martyr for a cause that needs to be heard

          6  sooner and not after another I tragic told you so.

          7                 And I close at this, Mr. Chairman,

          8  and I thank you for your indulgence.

          9                 I'll close at the very same question

         10  that I started out with more than a year ago. I

         11  challenge any witness to testify today and answer

         12  why should a 12-year-old kid need to swing a

         13  juiced-up $250 scandium bat in a Little League when

         14  another 12-year-old or 11-year-old or a ten-year-old

         15  is standing less than 40 feet away.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Oddo. I think we do agree on one thing already,

         19  which is that any issue that affects the health and

         20  safety of young people in the City is relevant to

         21  the City Council. So, I don't think we need to

         22  defend the agenda today.

         23                 I'm going to do something that is

         24  unusual. I'm going to play the tape that Councilman

         25  Oddo has asked us to do before we take our first

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  witness. I guess this constitutes a witness in favor

          3  of the bill.  I'll slide out of the way and take my

          4  bat with me.

          5                 (Videotape shown.)

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you for

          7  your quiet indulgence. Having commenced this hearing

          8  with that piece, I would urge everyone here to

          9  maintain open ears and mind, because I'm sure we

         10  have people here today who are going to take issue

         11  with some of the facts as presented during that

         12  segment.

         13                 I also want to, as an aside,

         14  Councilman Oddo talked about following the money, we

         15  have all, I'm sure members of this Committee and

         16  members of this Council, have been the last week or

         17  two very, very hard by advocates on both sides of

         18  this industry, and, frankly, I have declined to meet

         19  directly with the lobbyists from either side, hoping

         20  to hear the full story here today.

         21                 However, for the integrity of this

         22  institution, I would urge every member of this

         23  Committee not to accept any campaign money from

         24  anyone in this industry while we are considering

         25  this legislation. I think it's a matter of our own
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          2  personal integrity, and I know I will not, and I

          3  hope that each of you will agree that way as well.

          4                 Having said that, Councilman Perkins

          5  has joined us as well. Councilman Perkins would like

          6  to make a brief comment before we call our first

          7  witness.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          9  very much, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your

         10  indulgence, especially since I'm not actually a

         11  member of this Committee, but I have the privilege

         12  of representing the Harlem Little League, the folks

         13  that have brought so much pride and joy to many of

         14  us and had the opportunity to share with them this

         15  particular bill and to get some input from the

         16  leadership of that organization, which also happens

         17  to be the leadership of the National Little League.

         18  And I want to commend my colleague, who I believe

         19  the essence of his interest, which is the safety of

         20  our children as they are performing in their Little

         21  League activities, however, I want to make sure that

         22  for the record you understand that the leadership of

         23  the Little League has a problem with this bill in

         24  two respects: Number one, they don't believe that it

         25  provides the type of safety that is alleged in the
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          2  resolution, and number two, there is some concern

          3  about whether or not the City Council has a serious

          4  role to play with regard to this matter as well. And

          5  I believe to some extent that opinion has been

          6  shared with the Chair in an informal conversation

          7  when we celebrated them at City Hall. And, so, I

          8  just wanted to, on their behalf, make sure that it

          9  was once again reiterated that there's a great

         10  applause for Mr. Oddo, my colleague, for what we

         11  believe is a sincere interest on his part to protect

         12  our young people, but they're not supportive of this

         13  approach to that protection and they would

         14  respectfully request that the Council take that into

         15  serious consideration as it moves forward on this

         16  introduction.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Perkins.

         20                 Coincidentally, as staff and I were

         21  meeting on the preparation of this bill, the Harlem

         22  Little League was here in City Hall at Council

         23  Member Perkins' invitation, and I did hear from the

         24  leadership of the Little League, but more

         25  significant to me is we polled the young men on the
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          2  team as to what their feelings were, and most of

          3  them felt that they were safer with the aluminum

          4  bats. So that's I guess anecdotal, but thank you for

          5  joining us, Councilman.

          6                 You just heard from our first witness

          7  a little bit on TV. He has come a great distance to

          8  express his support to this bill, our first witness

          9  is Mr. Jack MacKay.

         10                 Yes, right there, Mr. MacKay, and

         11  we'll get your microphone on.

         12                 We're asking, you obviously can see

         13  we have a packed crowd, and we have made a

         14  determined effort to have witnesses from both sides

         15  present their case here today. I would ask each

         16  witness to try and keep their statement from three

         17  to five minutes, because I am sure there will be a

         18  great deal of questioning from the Council members

         19  on both sides of this.

         20                 Mr. MacKay.

         21                 MR. MACKAY: My name is Jack MacKay.

         22  I'm from Mount Pleasant, Texas. It's a very small

         23  town in Texas. People in Texas send their sympathy

         24  to you people for what's happened in the last year

         25  and admire your courage and the way you've handled
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          2  it.

          3                 I'm here about the safety of metal

          4  bats.

          5                 In 1989 I was hired by Louisville

          6  Slugger to try to catch Easton, and Easton at that

          7  time dominated the business. They were the pioneer

          8  of aluminum bats, and Louisville Slugger, of course,

          9  had been a predominantly wood bat company and were

         10  just getting into aluminum. And basically what

         11  happened, I figured out that lighter bats swung

         12  faster. I don't think I figured it out, somebody may

         13  have figured it out before I did, we put that into a

         14  design and actually started lightening bats up with

         15  increased swing speed, and we figured out real early

         16  on that the faster you swing a bat, nine-tenths of

         17  that gets into the ball, there's exit speed, and I

         18  designed the bat, it was just patented, called full

         19  barrel bat, which took the cramp out of the end of

         20  the bat.

         21                 And that basically opens the door to

         22  technology with exotic metals as they came along

         23  later on.

         24                 Had I known what I know now, probably

         25  would have never done it, but what happened is, we
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          2  were at wood speeds, the game was designed around

          3  wood speeds, 93 to 94- 5 miles an hour, depending on

          4  who you talk to, and all of a sudden we jumped up 20

          5  percent of those speeds.

          6                 And we were saying miles per hour of

          7  exit speed into 125 and we've seen higher, range 114

          8  as you just saw on the tape. And what that does is

          9  that shuts the reaction time between a pitcher, who

         10  is the closest person to the scene of the accident,

         11  to impossible levels of recovery or defense. And as

         12  a real simple demonstration, you can do it, I'll do

         13  it before I go, but when you're swinging a bat at

         14  ten miles an hour faster, you're putting nine more

         15  miles an hour of exit speed into the ball, and

         16  that's exactly what happened with the aluminum bats.

         17                 As time when on, in 1992, I think

         18  there were some letters from Mr. Darby at Easton

         19  confirming to the NCAA that the NCAA had told them,

         20  and there's a leading body and everybody kind of

         21  follows that theory, that they were told not to make

         22  any improvements to exceed a 1988 B9 Black Magic

         23  Easton bat, which had been the bat for decades, it

         24  was college baseball. And the first bat I built

         25  exceeded those parameters by a large margin.
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          2                 Easton didn't sit still. They came

          3  right on back and we ended up in this tremendous

          4  arms race until about '95. In '95 a new alloy became

          5  available, C405, tencell (phonetic) strengths were

          6  high, KSI was high, bats got thinned out.

          7                 Now, if you'll think about an

          8  aluminum bat, you need to think about a tennis

          9  racket. You think about a wood bat, it's a solid

         10  piece of mass, and what our aluminum bat does is

         11  catch the ball like a tennis racket, deforms it

         12  less, it has a hook band because it's round, and a

         13  trampoline, because that's where the ball hits, and

         14  it actually catches the ball and propels it off, and

         15  if you're swinging the bat faster, all of that's

         16  compounded. And that's in a nutshell exactly what

         17  happened.

         18                 Can I have about a second? Can it get

         19  up? Hold that bat in both hands, if you will,

         20  straight out to me, pick me up. Away from the hands,

         21  this is better. How much do you weigh? I'll withdraw

         22  the question.

         23                 What I'm saying is that the way to

         24  work the hands works on the square, so that any -- I

         25  can actually override him with my little finger, and
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          2  that's what aluminum bats do. Aluminum bats move the

          3  weight back door to the hand. The balance point of

          4  this bat is probably somewhere up near here. The

          5  balance point of an aluminum bat moves it back, so

          6  he's going to swing it quicker.

          7                 If he turned the bat around and

          8  grabbed it like that, he could swing it a lot

          9  quicker. Because the weight away from the hands is

         10  not even anywhere near it.

         11                 Now, when you get to this distance

         12  here, this is a baseball, how about dropping both of

         13  your hands down, and dropping your head to look at

         14  me? That's what the pitcher saw. Now, if you can hit

         15  that away and you know it's coming, it's fine. But

         16  that's about what a pitcher sees, if a ball comes

         17  back at 95 miles an hour.

         18                 What happened in '95, and you have

         19  documents there in front of you that cover,

         20  everything that I'm saying to you today is covered

         21  in those documents, whether you believe what I'm

         22  saying or not, please read those documents and see

         23  what the other people have said, what Easton, Jim

         24  Darby, Marty Archer, Jack Hill, all of those people

         25  have had to say about this, this is the biggest
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          2  coverup that's ever happened.

          3                 At the time they were telling NCAA

          4  that we would not raise the performance, they ran a

          5  private protocol with ALCOA to develop a stronger

          6  metal, C405 is that way it came on the market, and

          7  that purpose of that metal was to increase

          8  performance. And when we went to C405 we were

          9  already ten or 12 percent over, it may be 15

         10  percent, we took another five percent and we just

         11  jumped the ditch completely in the terms of safety.

         12  As this thing went along, I know people heard me say

         13  on the tape that I'm a proponent, I'm trying to stop

         14  it because I make wood bats now.

         15                 I make wood bats now because I enjoy

         16  it. I can make a lot more money designing an

         17  aluminum bat.

         18                 In 1993, and the documents will

         19  reflect this, I told management, and it's recorded

         20  in writing, from them and back and forth, we should

         21  detune bats to meet the objectives of the rules, and

         22  that the bat I designed, the four barrel, exceeded

         23  those perimeters and violated an agreement they

         24  already had with NCAA, known to everybody.

         25                 In 1995, all the manufacturers
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          2  initialed an agreement with NCAA saying that the '96

          3  modeled bats would at least compare to '94

          4  performance. That's an outright lie. '94 bats were

          5  CU31, and they went to C405 that year.

          6                 In 1997, a young man was killed with

          7  a bat I designed. Management and I got into an

          8  argument, depends on who talks about what story, I

          9  quit, resignation is in there, they offered about a

         10  million and a half dollars to retire to my ranch in

         11  Texas and stay out of the business, they now say

         12  that was talking points. They issued an 80-page

         13  contract that was going to pay me over a bunch of

         14  years and give me a lot of money. You have all of

         15  that.

         16                 I'm arguing for children now, and

         17  integrity to the game. If you're going to make

         18  aluminum bats, and you can, you can make an aluminum

         19  bat that hits exactly like wood and offers

         20  durability. You can't break it, you can play with it

         21  for two or three years. Manufacturers don't want

         22  that because they want you buying the latest new one

         23  every year.

         24                 And if you look at some of the recent

         25  advertisements for manufactures, Genesis is one,
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          2  that's a biblical name, Genesis is one of the bats,

          3  and they say up front, we build this bat for

          4  performance, not for durability. Spend 250. Hit the

          5  home out, when it bends buy a new one. Why not build

          6  a bat out of aluminum that hits exactly like wood,

          7  is balanced exactly like wood. The only advantage it

          8  would give you is the panel wouldn't break when the

          9  pitcher came inside. That's about it. And rather

         10  than take your time up with thoughts in my mind, I'd

         11  be happy to answer any questions anybody had.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: How much do you

         13  weigh, Mr. MacKay?

         14                 MR. MACKAY: About 162.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right. Thank

         16  you for coming here and for your expression of

         17  support for New Yorkers, and I guess the first

         18  question I want to ask you is this: We heard

         19  something on the TV about Consumer Product Safety

         20  Commission, my understanding is that they refused to

         21  issue a ruling requiring that all non-wood bats

         22  perform like wood bats. Finding that "non-wood bats

         23  did not pose an unreasonable risk of injury." That

         24  was a ruling made in response to your petition.

         25                 Could you respond to that?
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          2                 MR. MACKAY: Yes, sure.

          3                 When I found that petition, I asked

          4  for the recall of all metal bats, which is probably

          5  -- that wasn't going to happen.

          6                 Basically what I was trying to do is

          7  get the government's attention to show that this

          8  arms race and this conspiracy and all this has gone

          9  on for all these years and don't do something about

         10  it, and the causal effect, there's no accurate

         11  reporting system that exists - ISS data, NCAA data

         12  or even the CPSC's own emergency room data that

         13  actually gives you which injury is a sign or what.

         14  Baseball injuries are just kind of thrown over into

         15  a group. If you'll take the studies from '98 and '99

         16  that the NCAA did on pitchers, you'll find out that

         17  in Division 1 alone, 272 schools, almost 300

         18  pitchers were hit with direct line drive. We didn't

         19  see that before C405 came in.

         20                 What the problem was, was CPSC was,

         21  how do you prove that to them, and then they have to

         22  take into consideration economic effect as to how

         23  many kids you're going to kill. And basically in my

         24  mind what they're doing is, they say, well, we're

         25  only killing about 215 kids a year and it's going to
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          2  affect the industry so much economically this way,

          3  that's about a balance.

          4                 Although, six little babies got their

          5  fingers cut off in a high chair and they recalled

          6  300,000 of them.

          7                 So, I think it's a lot of political

          8  issues. I was told at the CPSC that when I filed a

          9  petition, the senators started coming through the

         10  door. So, this is baseball, this is not -- this is

         11  supposed to be America's past time, this is supposed

         12  to be good for kids, and I think, this is what I was

         13  trying to tell them, when you take your child to

         14  Little League on Thursday night, you don't expect to

         15  end up in an emergency room talking to a trauma

         16  surgeon.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Certainly not.

         18                 I mean, you would acknowledge that in

         19  any sport, baseball, otherwise, even as a spectator

         20  that there is a certain inherent risk that the

         21  participants assume, would you not?

         22                 MR. MACKAY: I acknowledge that

         23  there's risk to any sport, but I think a parent

         24  knows that stock car racing or bull riding,

         25  considers that far more dangerous than it is taking
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          2  their kid to a Little League game. I don't think

          3  parents are aware of the level of danger. But there

          4  are dangers probably in any sport, dangers in me

          5  being here today.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Not for me, sir.

          7                 You were talking about the severity

          8  of some of these injuries. The National Injury

          9  Surveillance system indicated that from 1991 to 2001

         10  there were 51 deaths in the United States due to the

         11  impact of the ball. Seventeen of those deaths were

         12  identified as being through the impact with a batted

         13  ball, eight of which involved non-wood bats, two of

         14  which involved wood bats, and 18 of which involved

         15  thrown balls.

         16                 Additionally, with respect to the 16

         17  deaths, 16 of the deaths, it's not known whether the

         18  ball was thrown or batted in respect to seven deaths

         19  involving batted ball impact, the type of bat is not

         20  known. Don't these statistics really only indicate

         21  the inherent danger in playing baseball, as opposed

         22  to the type of bat that's being used?

         23                 MR. MACKAY: I think the pros are

         24  hitting pitchers and these are body-trained

         25  athletes, and I think what I'm trying to convey to
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          2  you is if the pro speed with a wood bat, and even if

          3  the ball is juiced, are hitting their pitchers who

          4  are trained athletes, why in the world would we

          5  allow amateurs to play with bats to hit faster than

          6  professionals by ten percent?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Let's talk about

          8  the other element that's involved in a batted

          9  baseball, which is the ball.

         10                 I think Councilman Oddo, and I, at

         11  least, I don't know if any other members confess to

         12  being baseball addicts, and certainly in the last

         13  ten years, as in major league baseball, as we've

         14  talked about the proliferation of home runs, a lot

         15  of attention has been focused on the baseball

         16  itself.

         17                 Have you accounted in any of this

         18  research for the notion that the tighter weaving of

         19  the baseball is responsible for increased speed in

         20  batted balls?

         21                 MR. MACKAY: I think probably it's the

         22  change for the pill (phonetic) from corked to

         23  crushed rubber is something that made muscle show. A

         24  hot baseball, or a 6.0 restitution baseball, major

         25  league is like 5.5 to 5.7, if you had a juiced up
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          2  baseball, it would show up quicker on wood than it

          3  would on aluminum because you form more and since

          4  the ball crushes more you get the pill action

          5  quicker than you do with an aluminum bat that

          6  catches the ball.

          7                 The balls, one of the things that the

          8  interest is always that's the fall-back position,

          9  we're blaming it on the balls. Aluminum bats, it

         10  doesn't have anything to do --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, sir, I mean

         12  major league baseball they use wooden bats, so I

         13  mean the entire controversy of major league baseball

         14  revolved around the quote/unquote juiced up ball. I

         15  mean, are we deluding ourselves by just looking at

         16  the bat? I mean, maybe we should be looking at the

         17  ball?

         18                 MR. MACKAY: I think probably they are

         19  co-efficient of what the NJA has got, 555 is

         20  probably right, you could detune the balls, but when

         21  you deal with aluminum, the balls, that's kind of a

         22  trojan horse. It's got nothing to do with the ball

         23  when it comes to aluminum. It takes balls to do the

         24  right thing, and that's the problem.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: No one has ever
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          2  accused me of not having balls, sir. The question is

          3  what the right thing is.

          4                 I guess the most troubling question

          5  that, you know, I think the proponents of this bill

          6  have to answer is, the statistical evidence does not

          7  show an increase in injuries in Little League

          8  baseball.

          9                 Given that statistic, how can you

         10  justify the argument that bats are more, aluminum

         11  bats or non-wood bats are more dangerous, since in

         12  the past number of years, those are the years in

         13  which non-wood bats have become prevalent in Little

         14  League ball.

         15                 MR. MACKAY: Little League statistics,

         16  and I'm not an expert on this in any fashion, but

         17  Little League statistics come from their insurance

         18  claims or their secondary claims, and over these

         19  time periods that you're talking about this 76

         20  percent drop in injuries, you're going to find that

         21  they're insuring about 300 percent less than they

         22  did before. Most local associations now are getting

         23  their own insurance, so that data doesn't feed back

         24  into Little League. And I think there needs to be a

         25  good reporting system and then it would be there for
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          2  everybody. It's not a good reporting system, it's

          3  skewed and that plays to disadvantages of the

          4  aluminum bat manufacturers.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I understand that

          6  CNA is the insurance company for Little League

          7  Baseball in and around the New York City area, and

          8  they have been for some time, and they report that

          9  they are paying out less, in terms of injury

         10  settlements in recent years than prior.

         11                 Let's assume, let's postulate for a

         12  second, Mr. MacKay, that that's a correct fact; if

         13  that is the case, how can you then justify the

         14  prohibition of non-wood bats? If there are not more

         15  injuries, if there's no evidence that the injuries

         16  are more severe, how could you possibly justify your

         17  position?

         18                 MR. MACKAY: Well, if there is no

         19  evidence, and there is evidence because we're seeing

         20  it with our eyes, we're reading about it in the

         21  paper, we're reading about desks, if there is no

         22  injuries, then you do what you want. But the fact

         23  that an aluminum bat hits faster certainly is going

         24  to expose a kid to some percentage of greater

         25  danger. You're going to have to determine that
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          2  yourself, and people that are far smarter than I can

          3  run with it.

          4                 But if you drive a car 70 miles an

          5  hour, and you suddenly start driving 80, okay, you

          6  don't have a wreck and maybe you do, but if you have

          7  a wreck, it's going to be more severe. So, what

          8  we're doing, we're just playing at speeds that when

          9  we have a wreck we're going to have more damage.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. MacKay, I

         11  have two boys, Max is 14 and Ari is 12, they play

         12  Little League Baseball. To the best of your

         13  knowledge, and, actually, one of them has been a

         14  pitcher and one of them has been a catcher, and

         15  there was a catcher who actually had an injury on a

         16  field from a foul tip, okay? What's the average

         17  speed a 13-year-old in Little League throws a

         18  baseball?

         19                 MR. MACKAY: If you're talking about

         20  average speed, you're talking about all the kids

         21  around the country, or you're talking people about

         22  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm talking about

         24  New Yorkers, because we're the New York City

         25  Council.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 MR. MACKAY: I'm from Texas, I have no

          3  idea how fast you throw.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm not assuming

          5  that we're talking about Mr. Amante or Nolan Ryan,

          6  we're talking about the average kid playing Little

          7  League Baseball.

          8                 MR. MACKAY: I don't know --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Do you want to

         10  give me an idea?

         11                 MR. MACKAY: I would say that an

         12  average little leaguer in the 13-year-old range is

         13  probably going to throw 65 to 70 miles an hour,

         14  that's the number one guy.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And the average

         16  13-year-old swinging a non-wood bat, what's his bat

         17  speed or her?

         18                 MR. MACKAY: The size of the kid,

         19  there's some 13-year-olds that are going to get in

         20  the mid-eighties with bat speed, no question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right,

         22  average, you know, 13-year-old. I'm not talking, I

         23  mean obviously there are going to be some young

         24  people who will perform at a higher level and some

         25  that, you know, I'm sure there are a couple of kids
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          2  that are swinging about at half that speed. So, what

          3  would be average bat speed?

          4                 MR. MACKAY: The ninth whole hitter is

          5  not going to kill you, it's going to be the number

          6  four or five boy, and that's the boy that can really

          7  take it, and I would say that those guys probably

          8  bat speeds, the tests that I've seen and I've ever

          9  done were probably in the eighties, mid-eighties for

         10  the really good ones, probably in the high seventies

         11  --  it would go down from smaller strength.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We're throwing in

         13  the mid-sixties, we're swinging in the mid-seventies

         14  for the average kid, 13-year-old?

         15                 MR. MACKAY: I would say that you can

         16  use that figure. If you've got a 65 mile an hour

         17  pitch, and you've got a 70 mile an hour bat speed,

         18  if you're having a collision of over 135 miles an

         19  hour you're probably being real realistic.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And to your

         21  knowledge, is there a difference in reaction time

         22  between the average 13-year-old and a 16-year-old?

         23                 MR. MACKAY: I would think probably

         24  there is, and the data I've seen from Tom House and

         25  the pitching coaches is that you get older, of
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          2  course you gain speed, you gain muscle tone, I think

          3  probably the kids are slower, 13, he probably

          4  progresses each year and gets a little quicker, a

          5  little faster.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right, Mr.

          7  Mackay, before I ask my colleagues if they have

          8  questions, I have to ask a question that is

          9  indelicate, especially for someone who is here as a

         10  guest, but, frankly, it's been urged on me and so

         11  I'm going to ask it. I'm going to try to ask it as

         12  delicately and inoffensively as I can.

         13                 MR. MACKAY: Don't be delicate, just

         14  ask it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: First, you know,

         16  there have been allegations that you have been found

         17  guilty of fraud, contempt of court, that you have

         18  lied in your testimony in federal court, and then of

         19  course the one we heard on TV, which is that you

         20  have an economic interest, and I think you probably

         21  responded to that already, and I would ask if you

         22  want to say a few words about that?

         23                 MR. MACKAY: I would love to.

         24                 I was kicked out of college, I got in

         25  a Poker game that lasted for six years. I learned a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  lot in college from Poker about concentrating for

          3  long periods of times. I was in a lawsuit. I sold

          4  the company for about $8 million and I got sued. The

          5  Judge ordered me to do something, I told him I

          6  couldn't do it, he found that my testimony was

          7  patently false, and he put me in jail for contempt.

          8                 Ninety days later he found out that I

          9  was telling him the truth and he released me from

         10  contempt. That's something they won't tell you

         11  about.

         12                 When that lawsuit was all said and

         13  done, I had a $7 million judgment against me. The

         14  judge found out what had happened, I got Sunburst

         15  Farms back, I paid $200,000 in attorney fees, Mr.

         16  Oddo has those court orders which we've gotten

         17  unsealed.

         18                 What was the last one? Oh, there was

         19  another one that I stole from Louisville Slugger

         20  when I worked for them. Louisville Slugger had an

         21  audit done, when I started talking about bat safety

         22  and I went public about all this stuff, conspiracy

         23  and all, Louisville Slugger, a week after the boy

         24  was killed, had private investigators on my ranch,

         25  concocted a story that I had stolen 9,600 bats.
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          2  That's a semi-trailer truck load.

          3                 I had private businesses, I was a

          4  private contractor, I was selling old and used and

          5  out-of-date bats, they wanted everybody to believe

          6  they were theirs. They hired Coopers and Lybrand,

          7  they did an audit for a year. They came up with the

          8  fact that I had stolen 9,603 bats, those were

          9  missing, and we said, okay, where are the copies of

         10  the credit memos that I returned during those

         11  eight-year period? They gave them to us eight days

         12  before the trial in November of '98. There were

         13  9,599 bats returned. All those documents are in his

         14  possession for your Committee.

         15                 Louisville further went to the FBI.

         16  First, I filed the first lawsuit to get out of my

         17  nine compete (sic).  Louisville transferred that to

         18  the federal court in Texicana. Then they filed a

         19  suit in Louisville, Kentucky, asking for a

         20  preliminary injunction for me to turn over all my

         21  records within 24 hours.

         22                 We went to a hearing in Kentucky.

         23  Judge Simpson told him he can keep these records,

         24  he's filed a suit against you, get out of this court

         25  and go back to Texas where you belong.
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          2                 Four days later they went to their

          3  friends at the FBI, got a search warrant, brought

          4  seven guys in black jackets, weapons, cocked and

          5  locked, onto my property and retrieved 28 boxes of

          6  documents. They made a mistake, the documents had

          7  already been copied. Convinced the FBI, or told the

          8  FBI using the audit that was being prepared that I

          9  had stole 9,600 bats.

         10                 The FBI investigated it for three

         11  years. I went in front of the grand jury twice. When

         12  I walked up to the grand jury and handed the

         13  prosecutor, attorney, whatever, the guys in charge

         14  of a grand jury, the credit memos, he said he had

         15  never seen them before.

         16                 Mr. Archer here has testified under

         17  oath, he's President of Louisville Slugger, that he

         18  did not know whether his company gave the credit

         19  memo and IRS returns to the auditors or not, and did

         20  not know whether they gave them to the FBI or not.

         21  And he's accused me of theft, because he's going to

         22  get sued for it. He sued me, they're saying this in

         23  allegations, eight days after we got those credit

         24  memos, our suit settled mysteriously, in the

         25  Texicana Court. They have now gotten me up in
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          2  Texicana, this hearing was scheduled the week that

          3  Mr. Oddo called me and asked for it to be, said this

          4  was going to be scheduled, nine days later a

          5  contempt citation was filed against me in the

          6  Texicana Court, which is still pending. Don't go up

          7  there, same type of deal. This is dirty business.

          8  I'm not an angel, but I draw the line in hurting

          9  women and kids, and I did something wrong by

         10  designing this bat. All my kids, by the way,

         11  graduated from college, every one of them. They're

         12  all married, and I got a grandson who thinks I'm the

         13  cat's meow, and that's enough for me, that's a

         14  diploma finally. But I was a wild kid back in the

         15  sixties, I got out of college, I made it good. I

         16  made it big. I retired three times, and I'm enjoying

         17  what I'm doing now. I'm not going to testify anymore

         18  about bats. This is the end of it. I've said what

         19  I've got to say. If you people can have the balls or

         20  not, I know you'll do the right thing. And if

         21  there's anything else you want to know about my

         22  past, I'll answer it right now under oath.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, we haven't

         24  put you under oath, but it's perfectly obviously

         25  that, Mr. MacKay, you and Louisville Slugger know

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  how to play hardball.

          3                 I'm going to open it up to Committee

          4  members. I imagine Councilman Oddo has a few

          5  questions. Before we start, I want to introduce

          6  Councilman Gennaro from Queens, Councilman Gallagher

          7  from Queens, and Councilman DeBlasio from the City's

          8  best borough of Brooklyn, have joined us.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 Well, Jack, you're consistent. I'll

         12  have to say that, because everything you said to me

         13  so far in the last 15 months has been true, and you

         14  told me the truth. True to form you told me that

         15  there would be some character assassination going on

         16  and it's certainly happening.

         17                 Let me remind my colleagues and the

         18  media and everyone in this room, that no one is on

         19  trial here.

         20                 The only thing perhaps that's on

         21  trial are the bats that these guys create.

         22                 Jack told me that they're going to

         23  bring up this and they're going to bring up that and

         24  they're going to bring up another thing. It's all

         25  been litigated, and I think it's a little bit
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          2  embarrassing for me, considering that I brought Jack

          3  up here, to have to face that type of stuff.

          4                 My analogy when I started out, this

          5  Committee was, this industry is analogous to big

          6  tobacco, and I think I've added an exclamation point

          7  on it today with that type of questioning.

          8                 And I don't fault you, Mr. Chairman.

          9  I know you have to bring it up, because I know these

         10  folks, as they said in the daily news, they've been

         11  here since Monday and they're lobbying my

         12  colleagues, but the truth will win out. As I said,

         13  he's not a saint, but he's trying to do the right

         14  thing.

         15                 So, let's get our eye back on the

         16  ball, because I'm good at puns, too, Mr. Chairman,

         17  and let's talk about the real issue and that's the

         18  safety of these bats, and the safety of our kids.

         19                 Mr. MacKay, in the Tuesday September

         20  24, this Tuesday, Daily News there's a gentleman by

         21  the name, I think he is here, Mr. Ettinger, David

         22  Ettinger, who is a spokesperson for Easton, says,

         23  and I quote --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: He'll be our next

         25  witness.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Oh, I can't

          3  wait. "The ball comes off no faster than the best

          4  wooden bat"; do you agree with that?

          5                 MR. MACKAY: Absolutely not. It's a

          6  lie.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are you familiar

          8  with any testing that has been done that

          9  demonstrates that clearly?

         10                 MR. MACKAY: I know that at one time

         11  they went and found a bat, a wood bat that weighed

         12  about 36 ounces, and this is against a 30 ounce

         13  aluminum bat, in a machine that doesn't know the

         14  difference. Now, a human can't swing those two bats

         15  the same, but if you swing a heavier bat, you can

         16  swing a bat at the same speed, 80 miles an hour, and

         17  one of them is four ounces heavier, it's going to

         18  hit further than a lighter. It's just kinetically

         19  impossible to do that. Two or three miles an hour is

         20  absurd.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Now, Mr. MacKay,

         22  who is Dr. Jay Bhatt, B-h-a-t-t?

         23                 MR. MACKAY: I think it's Bhatt.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Bhatt.

         25                 MR. MACKAY: He's the Director of
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          2  Research, I think, for Louisville Slugger, or was at

          3  a time right after I left.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are you familiar

          5  with a study that he did, or a memo that he did that

          6  asserts that aluminum bats perform about 20 percent

          7  better than wooden bats?

          8                 MR. MACKAY: We went to the Naval

          9  station which is a United States government

         10  facility, high speed cameras, channel eight, and

         11  they tested, shot balls at batch in a stationary

         12  position to get high speeds film on it, and after

         13  that, which really was a study on trampoline effect,

         14  after that he issued a memorandum or maybe a story

         15  that aluminum bats hit 20 percent faster than wood.

         16  He's a Ph.D. He didn't get kicked out of college.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And he was an

         18  employee of Hillerich and Bradsby, which is the

         19  mother company for Louisville Slugger?

         20                 MR. MACKAY: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it accurate

         22  to say that that speed, the speed of the bat when

         23  you swing it is the most crucial factor in

         24  determining how fast the ball is off that bat?

         25                 MR. MACKAY: Absolutely. It's the
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          2  number one thing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And the theory

          4  is that you, as you said to me, you didn't invent

          5  it, I think it was Ted Williams who came up with the

          6  idea, the lighter the bat, the quicker the bat

          7  speed, the faster the ball goes?

          8                 MR. MACKAY: In those days they hit

          9  minus one. And let me explain that. Minus one, minus

         10  two, minus three, what you're talking about, it's

         11  linked to weight. So, if you've got a 30-ounce bat,

         12  it's a minus three, it's a minus 30, and that's what

         13  everybody is playing with. Pros used to swing with

         14  minus one.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The bat

         16  manufacturers and NCAA and high school federation

         17  loved to say that they've heard the cries for safety

         18  and they've actually changed the bat. The

         19  differential that you've just referred to went from

         20  minus five to a minus three. Can you explain exactly

         21  how they've achieved this new differential, and tell

         22  me why you think that has not resulted in a safer

         23  bat. If anything, it's resulted in a more dangerous

         24  bat.

         25                 MR. MACKAY: Well, it depends on which
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          2  company now. I think Easton has been very

          3  responsible. Easton builds the best engineered bat,

          4  their process is -- what they do is a better

          5  process.

          6                 Louisville, the bat was minus five

          7  and you had to get it to a minus three to be legal.

          8  Of course, aluminum bats are hollow, they just dump

          9  ball bearings in the hull (sic) and cover it up with

         10  urethane.

         11                 Weight behind the hands, as we just

         12  demonstrated up there, has no effect on the

         13  rotational characteristics of the bat. And, in fact,

         14  if you saw one of the TV shows I did right before

         15  the World Series, I hear that they hit a ball out, I

         16  said if they use this bat it's probably going to hit

         17  faster, because you're a little more solid than your

         18  hands.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, Mr.

         20  Chairman, if I may, because I've done this now for a

         21  long time, and let me just explain. They said they

         22  were going to make a smaller differential between

         23  the length of the bat and the weight, and they said

         24  they were going to add some weight, but all they did

         25  was hollow out this knob, add some ball bearings to
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          2  this knob, and in effect what they did is make all

          3  the weight down here, make a more of a catapult

          4  action.

          5                 So, when the folks in the industry

          6  and the folks in the NCAA point to changes they've

          7  made in the bat, it's illusory.

          8                 Mr. MacKay, can you just very

          9  briefly, you touched on it earlier, but can you

         10  explain again for my colleagues, this notion of a

         11  trampoline effect, and the difference between why

         12  the aluminum bats perform better, vis-a-vis when the

         13  ball hits the bat?

         14                 MR. MACKAY: That's a wood bat. An

         15  aluminum bat of the same model would be a bigger

         16  barrel. Most wood bats are about 250, two and a half

         17  inches. Some of them go up to two and five-eights,

         18  but most of them are predominantly two and a half

         19  inches.

         20                 At the time that I got in the

         21  industry we were playing it two and three-quarter

         22  inch, it's now been dropped to two and five-eighths

         23  to 6.25. An aluminum bat has a longer barrel,

         24  because if you make a long wood bat barrel, you got

         25  more weight out there and you can't do it. So, they
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          2  have exceptionally long barrels.

          3                 Now, all the aluminum bat is, is a

          4  round tube, and when the full barrel patent came and

          5  we took the crimp out of the end of it, what happens

          6  when you hit that tube is that you get a hook

          7  effect, it means the whole tube crushes and where

          8  the barrel hits it goes into the metal and it's like

          9  thin string wreckage (sic).

         10                 So, basically, if you remember high

         11  school gym class, you've got a big trampoline with a

         12  little one sitting into it. The ball hits the first

         13  trampoline, drives it into the second one, and comes

         14  off.

         15                 Now, I imagine that the trampoline on

         16  the floor is moving at 60 miles an hour, 70, 80 or

         17  whatever that speed is into the equation.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, Mr.

         19  MacKay, very briefly, tell us again succinctly why

         20  is exit speed the issue?

         21                 MR. MACKAY: Exit speed is the issue

         22  because the faster it leaves, the quicker it gets to

         23  the pitcher, or to the fielder, and the quicker it

         24  gets there, the less reaction time he has to defend

         25  himself.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. I'm going

          3  to address the issue about injury statistics with

          4  the subsequent witnesses, but I made in my opening

          5  statement some pretty powerful comments when I said

          6  money rules this whole issue.

          7                 How much does it cost -- I have

          8  Direct Sports Magazine, it has all kinds of sporting

          9  good stuff, $160m $170, $180, $200, we know of bats

         10  that sell upwards of $300; how much does it cost to

         11  build one of these state-of-the-art aluminum bats?

         12                 MR. MACKAY: You're talking about raw

         13  materials and the process, or are you talking about

         14  after they add G and A and the museum --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Process.

         16                 MR. MACKAY: You can build an aluminum

         17  bat for 40 bucks, top of the line.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You can build an

         19  aluminum bat for 40 bucks. The same bats that are

         20  being sold for those prices featured in that?

         21                 MR. MACKAY: That's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: When you were

         23  hired by Louisville Slugger, Easton dominated the

         24  market. You went to coaches, sort of along the lines

         25  of the sneaker contract for basketball coaches, you
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          2  went to coaches and said we'll give you the bats,

          3  we'll give you the contract; are coaches right now

          4  getting contracts above and beyond their salaries

          5  from the universities?

          6                 MR. MACKAY: I adopted the program,

          7  actually it was Marty Archer's idea. Easton owned

          8  collegiate baseball at the time, and basically

          9  Easton had the best bat, they had the best trick,

         10  and they had the best relationship with the coaches,

         11  so we had to go buy our way into collegiate

         12  baseball, and what I did was get contracts with

         13  coaches to use exclusively our stuff, very small

         14  money back in those days, I think it's now been

         15  acknowledged several times, five or $6,000. Those

         16  contracts have now escalated to, some of them get

         17  six figures.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And as you

         19  understand the NCAA, because I bring up the NCAA

         20  even though this bill does not apply to colleges, it

         21  applies to younger people, the industry loves to use

         22  this NCAA statistic, so let's talk about the NCAA

         23  very briefly.

         24                 As you understand the NCAA voluntary

         25  system to report injuries, those injuries are

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  supposed to be supported by the coaches by these

          3  teams.

          4                 MR. MACKAY: The same coaches getting

          5  paid are responsible to make sure they have training

          6  reports.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you think in

          8  your own opinion the coaches are going to bite the

          9  hand that feeds them?

         10                 MR. MACKAY: I've been told that

         11  they've been told to withhold them.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Now, let me ask

         13  you this, Mr. Mackay, if we were to pass this bill

         14  and other jurisdictions followed us, what would the

         15  impact be? How much money is at stake for these

         16  companies?

         17                 MR. MACKAY: How much would they save?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: How much would

         19  they -- can you give me a percentage of their

         20  profits that they make? If they weren't allowed to

         21  -- if kids weren't allowed to use these?

         22                 MR. MACKAY: Are you talking about a

         23  New York City market? It's not going to impact their

         24  total business.  If New York City went to wood bats

         25  or to composits or something beside wood, same guys
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          2  are going to sell you wood bats. They'd also make

          3  wood bats just like I did.

          4                 They're profit margin is going to

          5  drop 75 percent.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: They're profit

          7  margin is going to drop --

          8                 MR. MACKAY: They're going to make a

          9  lot more on aluminum bats than they are barrel bats.

         10                 Now, if the whole country went to

         11  wood, they're in trouble.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Let me ask two

         13  more questions briefly, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 When again did you realize that the

         15  bats that you created were unsafe? What year?

         16                 MR. MACKAY: Probably in -- filed a

         17  full barrel patent in '92, and I think it finalized

         18  somewhere between '93 and '94. My son was a twice

         19  all American high school player out of Texas.

         20  Probably one of the better players that came out of

         21  Texas in those years, and he went off to University

         22  of Florida, and that was the first year of the wide

         23  bat, wide full barrel bat. And he came back at

         24  Christmas and told me, Dad, these things are too

         25  hot, they're eating us up. I've always played on the
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          2  dirt, now I'm on the grass. And he's a shortstop.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. MacKay, one

          4  last question about the profit margin here.

          5                 There's a competition clearly between

          6  and among the bat manufacturers, but when they're

          7  threatened from the outside, as evidenced by this

          8  hearing today, they seem to come together.

          9                 I read the petition that you

         10  submitted to the Consumer Product Safety Commission,

         11  and on page 60, if I could refresh your

         12  recollection, there's a claim that Louisville

         13  Slugger and Easton actually did come together to

         14  sort of fix what the market rate would be.

         15                 Are you familiar with that?

         16                 MR. MACKAY: I'm familiar with a week

         17  apart they came out with letters telling the dealers

         18  what they could charge and they couldn't charge

         19  below a certain price, and those were inflated

         20  figures.

         21                 Louisville follows everything that

         22  Easton does because Easton is the technology leader

         23  in this business. And Louisville follows, that was

         24  all we ever did. That's what my job was, to look at

         25  Easton bats and see if I could design something
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          2  using the processes that Louisville has available to

          3  them to implicate that batch. You can't, so you need

          4  to go back to college baseball. They hate each

          5  other, but when you threaten them, they're on

          6  different sides of the aisle today, you threaten

          7  them, their brothers because they're talking about

          8  money.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Steve Baum, who

         10  has a composit bat, put out a piece of literature on

         11  a newsletter that said metal is two to three times

         12  stiffer, metal is two to three times stronger, metal

         13  is up to five ounces lighter, metal's sweet spot is

         14  470 percent larger, metal has 400 percent more

         15  hitting surface, metal sound changes defensive

         16  moves, metal is a quarter of an inch larger in

         17  diameter, metal increases batting average 150 to 200

         18  points. Metal bat pitchers do not develop a fast

         19  ball, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera; would you

         20  share that opinion?

         21                 MR. MACKAY: I share all of it. I

         22  might disagree with one or two of the figures but

         23  not enough to even -- yes, he's done a lot of

         24  research. There's one thing you can look at here.

         25  All of you, you all ought to look at the Bill
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          2  Thurston study where they compared collegiate

          3  players, same player same year. They play in college

          4  with aluminum and then they go to the Cape Cod

          5  League, which is a wood bat league.

          6                 Now, this is the same guy, same

          7  person, he plays all year with aluminum and then he

          8  goes to Cape Cod and plays with wood, and look at

          9  the difference of what he does. Batting average drop

         10  100 points. Slugging percentages 200 points, it's a

         11  phenomenal difference.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Last point, Mr.

         13  Chairman. You had asked Mr. MacKay about the average

         14  speed of the little leagues and the 13-year-olds. I

         15  would submit for the record, it may not be the

         16  average swing and the average pitch that we're

         17  concerned about. I think the injuries and the deaths

         18  are going to come from the kid who is above average,

         19  and if I can remind my colleagues that little

         20  leagues are ten years old, 11 years old and 12 years

         21  old, and at that age when you have a mature 12 year

         22  old playing on the same field as a ten year old,

         23  that disparity in age I think is huge.

         24                 Mr. MacKay, my last question. And as

         25  I said in my opening statement, is there any reason
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          2  that you can find for a 12-year-old kid to be

          3  swinging one of these high-tech bats at a Little

          4  League game anywhere across this City or across this

          5  nation?

          6                 MR. MACKAY: I don't know of any

          7  reason other than his father can afford, or his

          8  grandfather can afford it. You're actually teaching

          9  him to hit wrong. He's not learning to get the hands

         10  through because of the weight. You're actually

         11  teaching kids wrong.

         12                 You have a lot of people in the pros

         13  right now who are out for big money, Phil Evan

         14  (phonetic) and people like that, it took a long

         15  time, J.D. Drew, Walker from LSU, those guys, it

         16  took a long time for them to learn how to convert

         17  from aluminum bats to wood because it's just a whole

         18  different swing. It's a whole different game.

         19  There's no comparison.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. MacKay, it's

         21  been a pleasure. Thank you for coming all the way up

         22  from Texas to be here today, I appreciate it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Do any other

         24  members of the Committee wish to ask Mr. MacKay any

         25  questions?
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          2                 Mr. Gallagher.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you.

          4                 I just want to try to understand the

          5  technology of the aluminum bats, and maybe I can use

          6  a golf analogy at this meeting.

          7                 Now, I know that the PGA banned golf

          8  clubs that have that spring effect when it hits the

          9  golf balls; is that the same thing that the aluminum

         10  bats do?

         11                 MR. MACKAY: Very similar. The effects

         12  that the club did when they started with this

         13  titanium, yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: In

         15  addition, I think that you spoke earlier at one of

         16  the questions that the Chairman asked you about a 13

         17  year old throwing say maybe in the mid-sixties, some

         18  to the upper-seventies, but that distance is

         19  substantially shorter. I remember watching the

         20  Little League World Series two years ago with Dannie

         21  Almante, and they were doing the two charts, the

         22  chart that what the perceived speed would be. They

         23  had his fast ball going at about 90 miles per hour.

         24                 So, wouldn't that make a substantial

         25  difference given the shortness of the pitching
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          2  mound?

          3                 MR. MACKAY: The Little League is

          4  closer, so he's going to be closer to the scene of

          5  the accident.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: And how

          7  does that effect their response time?

          8                 MR. MACKAY: They were throwing up, as

          9  I remember, the equivalent pro-speed. They were

         10  saying if he was pitching in the pros that's what it

         11  would be equivalent to.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: What would

         13  the response time necessary -- what would the

         14  response time be for a shot that came off from a

         15  Little League in the mound? I think it's what, 44

         16  feet, six inches?

         17                 MR. MACKAY: It comes down

         18  considerably. It's probably in the 300 millisecond

         19  range, which is way below the threshold of where you

         20  could actually -- you have to see it. First you have

         21  to acquire it with your eye. You have to acquire it,

         22  that's the seeing part, and then you have to track,

         23  determine whether it's coming at you or not and

         24  avoid.

         25                 And you can't do that -- the
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          2  government spends about $2 million training a

          3  fighter pilot to react in about a little less than a

          4  second, 880 milliseconds, and we're asking a kid

          5  that hasn't been through the intensive top gun

          6  school to do it in 300 -- about twice as fast.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Okay.

          8                 And I just have one additional

          9  question. You know, I've heard in meetings with

         10  different folks that would composit bats, their

         11  contention is that wood composit bats can actually

         12  exceed the performance of metal bats, in terms of

         13  the exit speeds. And there was articles out there

         14  about juiced up wood composit bats; can you clarify

         15  this for me?

         16                 MR. MACKAY: I built some of the first

         17  ones. Some of the first -- now, you're saying wood

         18  composit and you're saying composit, and that's two

         19  different bats.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Okay.

         21                 MR. MACKAY: A composit bat in my

         22  definition would be a hollow tube made with a

         23  composit. I built some of those early on. Pete

         24  Incavilia (phonetic) hit one off of the old Dr.

         25  Pepper sign in old Arlington Stadium, 660, 660 feet.
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          2  They would actually out-hit aluminum.

          3                 The wood composit, is a rat's bat, or

          4  what Louisville makes now is a rat bat, and I

          5  actually designed that bat. It's a covering over a

          6  bat to kind of give it a bullet-proof coat. The bat

          7  that Baum builds is a hybrid of the two, it's got a

          8  foam core, a composit, and then it's got a veneer

          9  coating on it. Yes, it can be jacked up to hit

         10  faster than aluminum does now.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: All right.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Council Member

         14  Vann.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, good

         16  morning, Mr. MacKay.

         17                 Something that you said when you were

         18  responding to questions from Councilman Oddo that

         19  kind of struck me. It had to do with contracts that

         20  coaches have in terms of I guess to determine what

         21  bats they will use for their teams and whatnot. And

         22  you indicated that you seem to be making money

         23  beyond whatever, and the suggestion was to me as I

         24  understood it, that they were choosing certain bats

         25  to make money even though they realized there would
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          2  be greater harm or risk to their players. Did I hear

          3  that correctly, or am I misunderstanding or

          4  misinterpreting --

          5                 MR. MACKAY: I think you heard it

          6  correctly. I think in defense of coaches right is

          7  right and wrong is wrong. I think that what started

          8  out, the coach is, the coach signs a contract with

          9  either Easton or Louisville, Art Rollins or Dean

         10  Mariner (phonetic), or whoever, and he says I'm

         11  going to use exclusively your bat. Now, that's not

         12  an implied warranty, that's an express warranty when

         13  nine people go up with your bat. Big deal. It's what

         14  brought Louisville back to the business, because it

         15  was all Easton. And I think those contracts now have

         16  those coaches under a system where they have to use

         17  that bat. In fact, one coach wanted to change

         18  companies in Louisville sued him. Georgi Decos

         19  (phonetic), Danny Hall. I think they're under a

         20  contract now and they don't have any choice. They

         21  can try to get out of it and go to some other

         22  company or even went to wood they'd get sued, and,

         23  yes, it is additional income, and, yes, some of that

         24  money is up there, and, yes, that coach is in charge

         25  of making sure his trainer sends those injury
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          2  incidents reports back. So, puts the coach in a very

          3  tenuous situation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Are you saying

          5  that the coach has not choice, that he would put his

          6  teams, his players in harm's way knowingly because

          7  of the system, the economic relationship?

          8                 MR. MACKAY: I think ultimately you

          9  always have a choice. I made a lot of them. I made

         10  one to be here today. But I think realistically, if

         11  you're under a contract you're not going to void it,

         12  especially when one guy tried to get out, and they

         13  drag in Louisville and preliminary injunctions and

         14  all of this stuff, we're playing baseball, we're not

         15  supposed to tell somebody what to use.

         16                 And I think Jim Darby at Easton

         17  probably said it right, players really ought to have

         18  the choice to swing whichever tool they want because

         19  it's an individual item. And we basically took that

         20  away from them in the way of dollars. And now we've

         21  got the coach kind of hemmed up in that contract.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: My second

         23  question, you know, I have no way of fulling knowing

         24  all that has been discussed here. To some extent you

         25  begin to rely on a credible source. You've been in
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          2  this a long time, I listened to you, you seem very

          3  competent in what you're saying, and obviously there

          4  are pros and cons.

          5                 So, it sort of comes down to me, you

          6  know, what statistics are available and from what

          7  source, which clearly indicate there are more

          8  injuries and more serious injuries to pitchers or

          9  other players, when non-wooden bats are used, as

         10  opposed to wooden bats being used.

         11                 MR. MACKAY: Mr. Oddo has several

         12  studies over there. The NCAA students for two years,

         13  although they're not complete, nor they didn't take,

         14  every college didn't report, but the colleges you've

         15  got, you can see them, there's three notebooks over

         16  there, probably 700 players in two years, I think if

         17  you go to the CPSC actual original draft, they buy

         18  into my kinetic, it was not mine, somebody figured

         19  it out way before I did, but if you increase the

         20  speed very little, you magnify the impacts a great

         21  deal because it works on a square.

         22                 If you go up, if you're hitting the

         23  ball 90 miles an hour, you increase it two miles an

         24  hour, you square that two, you see where I'm going,

         25  that's four. What if you went up four miles an hour?
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          2  Sixteen. So, you see the difference in the

          3  potential? As it goes up ten percent, you are

          4  increasing it on a square, and if you read the CPSC

          5  report, I think they do a lot better job of

          6  explaining that than I could by saying, it takes a

          7  very little increase in speed to magnify the danger

          8  downfield.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Then go one step

         10  further; there is evidence then that that increase

         11  in speed has provided an increase in injuries.

         12                 MR. MACKAY: I think that's what the

         13  argument is about. I think you've hit it right on,

         14  the nail on the head. It must be, and everybody

         15  seems to think it is, I don't think there's a list

         16  anywhere, the one you want to see, the piece of

         17  paper I've handed to you, I don't think it exists,

         18  but I think it's fragmented back and forth, the

         19  data, but I think that it's the same thing as the

         20  bullet technology. You take a 22 and you make a 22

         21  magnum out of it, same projectoral, you just send it

         22  down the tube faster, and it has 40 percent more

         23  knockdown power. Comes out of the same handgun, and

         24  same -- maybe a little bit larger. And I think

         25  that's common sense, and I think if you will look at
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          2  the injuries that have happened since '75, I don't

          3  remember seeing in '92 and '93 when I was all

          4  through college baseball, kids with stars all the

          5  way around their heads, 18 inch cuts and steel

          6  plates in their head, until we got to the point

          7  where we were hitting above those thresholds. And I

          8  think that's the evidence. Why are we all of a

          9  sudden talking to neurosurgeons rather than

         10  trainers? And I think the evidence is out there, I

         11  just don't think it's compiled in that one list you

         12  want somebody to hand you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So, that being

         14  the fact that they have not been compiled, and so

         15  what is out there is anecdotal to some extent, you

         16  feel that is sufficient for a legislative body to

         17  make a decision to, if you will, prevent the

         18  manufacturer of the certain product based on

         19  somewhat anecdotal evidence?

         20                 MR. MACKAY: I think you can get the

         21  information very easily, especially from the chair

         22  you're sitting in. I think you can get the

         23  information from CPSC, Child Safety, the NCAA, you

         24  can certainly get all of that, and then make a list

         25  of your own. In those pink notebooks over there you
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          2  have two years of a study that I got Bill Thurston

          3  to put in at the NCAA, because that was a control

          4  system. And if the rest of the country runs at any

          5  kind of a rate, below or even or linear to that,

          6  then there's a tremendous amount of injuries. And

          7  I've been on television a few times for this, and

          8  I've openly talked about it, I get calls every week,

          9  every day, mostly lawyers, there are injuries

         10  happening that you don't hear about and that are

         11  unreported. And one real good instance is that is

         12  the year that I forecast all the -- this bat that

         13  floated in the hands the year that Arizona State and

         14  USC squared off in the World Series and hit the

         15  balls, that very year Ron Mills, who was a top

         16  rounder, the year before was hit and had a broken

         17  jaw, and you saw that on tape. That next year he was

         18  hit in the leg, and both of those years are covered

         19  in the study and he's not in there anywhere. And

         20  those were TV instances, so there's a whole lot of

         21  instances that are not there. This is tip of the

         22  iceberg stuff, and I think you're asking for exactly

         23  what I would like to see done, everybody that's ever

         24  hit by a ball, they ought to be categorized that way

         25  and done. And you're not going to get any
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          2  cooperation from these guys on it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. MacKay and

          4  members of the Committee, I promised a balanced

          5  hearing. I'm going to ask that we go on to our next

          6  witness.

          7                 Thank you very much, Mr. MacKay, for

          8  coming and for your testimony.

          9                 Mr. David Ettinger, who represents

         10  Easton Sports, who has also come a long way here,

         11  from California. I would like to introduce some of

         12  our colleagues who came to join us as well.

         13                 Councilman Gerson from Manhattan,

         14  Councilman Stewart from Brooklyn, and I know I saw

         15  Councilwoman Reyna from Brooklyn as well a moment

         16  ago, have joined us as well.

         17                 I would again, remind everybody, we

         18  have a great number of people who have come a long

         19  distance to testify and we have the room until 1:00.

         20  I do want to indicate for those of us who are

         21  getting a little stiff after Mr. Ettinger's

         22  questions and answers, we'll take a brief recess.

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Chairman, I've come

         24  from Detroit, not quite as far, but I'm pleased to

         25  be here. Any injury, of course, is tragic, and
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          2  Easton is certainly concerned about the kinds of

          3  injuries we have seen on the videotape. I have a

          4  videotape here of an injury to Cage Ishi (phonetic),

          5  a Dodger pitcher, whose skull was fractured being

          6  hit by a wood bat in the last two weeks. One of two

          7  major league pitchers, who had serious injuries from

          8  wood bats in the last two weeks. And it raises the

          9  same kinds of emotional issues, but I don't want to

         10  show that video, because what we want to do is stick

         11  to the facts, and the facts are that over 30 years

         12  aluminum bats have been overwhelming free choice of

         13  parents and coaches and kids. They can always buy

         14  wood if they've chosen aluminum, and over those

         15  years these bats have been safe.

         16                 I'd like to take you through the data

         17  on that, and as I go perhaps respond to some of the

         18  points you heard, and I certainly welcome questions

         19  to be able to respond to more of them.

         20                 In your packets, by the way, we just

         21  gave you, the first group of items is a few charts

         22  that we're going to be holding up, and I'm going to

         23  try to follow along with those charts.

         24                 The first point is very simple, and

         25  that is, this is not just the NCAA, 15 different
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          2  organizations have looked at this issue

          3  specifically.

          4                 From the Consumer Product Safety

          5  Commission, five softball associations, 14 baseball

          6  associations all together, baseball and softball,

          7  every single one has rejected the idea that aluminum

          8  bats ought to be banned after looking at it, every

          9  single one.

         10                 There's a reason for that, and the

         11  reason is that the data does not show a safety

         12  problem. And that data comes from lots of sources

         13  and we've provided it to you.

         14                 One of those sources is Little

         15  League, which by the way, represents kids from five

         16  to 18, and I'll be -- this is the 76 percent number,

         17  there's been a remarkable decline over these years,

         18  and I'll be happy to talk about those statistics,

         19  but this is also confirmed by P.O.N.Y. League and

         20  Babe Ruth League, and none of these numbers are from

         21  Easton, they're from the leagues themselves and

         22  their representatives are going to be here today,

         23  and they'll be happy to explain them. So, all these

         24  statistics show, in this period when allegedly the

         25  bats were getting livelier and more dangerous, that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  the injuries are going down.

          3                 Now, the NCAA says the same thing,

          4  and you've heard attacks on the NCAA, their ISS

          5  statistics are recognized, they're not just done for

          6  baseball, they've been done for all sports for 15

          7  years, and what they show is that baseball is one of

          8  the safest sports, much safer, for example, than

          9  women's or men's soccer, women's or men's

         10  basketball. And by the way, Mr. MacKay said that the

         11  coaches somehow distort this, the trainers supply

         12  this data, that's in the information you've been

         13  provided.

         14                 The NCAA data also shows that even

         15  among baseball injuries, injuries due to batted

         16  balls are a tiny percentage of the total. Under five

         17  percent. So, again, it shows that injury problem is

         18  not a significant one, and this comes from a variety

         19  of sources as we've indicated.

         20                 Mr. MacKay alluded to statistics on

         21  offense, and Mr. MacKay and others who opposed the

         22  aluminum bat claim that they're more dangerous and

         23  they result in wildly skyrocketing offense. Again,

         24  the facts just don't support that. If you look at

         25  1981, 20 years ago, and 2002, what you find is
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          2  batting averages are a little lower today, runs per

          3  game are a little lower, home runs are just a big

          4  higher. It's the same game it's been for 20 years

          5  and nobody was raising these issues in the 1980s and

          6  in fact the game is the same and it's no more

          7  dangerous.

          8                 There was a reference to the Cape Cod

          9  League by the way. That's a wood bat league. The

         10  average batting average in the Cape Cod League,

         11  among all star college players is 240. In some years

         12  it's been 247. That's why coaches and players choose

         13  aluminum bats. They don't want that kind of game,

         14  and that's their free choice, and they ought to be

         15  permitted to exercise that choice.

         16                 If indeed there were an issue here,

         17  we think it got put to rest by the NCAA and now the

         18  high schools by adapting a standard that says that

         19  aluminum bats are not to hit better than the best

         20  wood bats, and that's effective in the high schools

         21  in 2003.

         22                 You heard that the test is done at

         23  other than game speeds. That's correct. It doesn't

         24  matter because it's a relative test, and it affects

         25  both the wood and aluminum bats in the same way.
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          2                 And the test, by the way, is by Mr.

          3  Bob, Mr. MacKay's colleague, an opponent of aluminum

          4  bats. The NCAA is using his machine, and that

          5  machine says that the aluminum bats are no better

          6  than the best wood, and that's what's being applied

          7  at these levels.

          8                 So then we come to Mr. MacKay and his

          9  story, and we say unapologetically that Mr. MacKay

         10  is a liar. And the reason we say it is very simple,

         11  he's not given you data.

         12                 Mr. MacKay said in his deposition,

         13  "I'm not a researcher." He's given you a lot of

         14  stories and opinions, so what's critical here is can

         15  you believe him?

         16                 And Mr. MacKay is in the almost

         17  unique position of having been found by a jury and

         18  by a judge to be a liar. A court found that he

         19  committed securities fraud. The jury did. The judge

         20  found he gave patently false testimony.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm going to ask

         22  you to go to a different topic. First of all, I

         23  don't think that you're helping your cause. And I

         24  don't want this to become a referendum on Mr.

         25  MacKay.
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          2                 If you feel his testimony is false,

          3  let's talk about what's false about his testimony. I

          4  don't want to engage in, particularly since we have

          5  a limited amount of time, in a forum on his

          6  character or his credentials. He's testified and,

          7  you know, attack what he had to say, if you will,

          8  but not Mr. MacKay.

          9                 I think I probably speak for the

         10  Committee in that regard.

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: I'll do that, Mr.

         12  Chairman. And I would just ask the Committee to look

         13  at the hard data. Don't rely on what I say or what

         14  Easton says, look at the data the leagues have

         15  collected that scientists have looked at. And we

         16  will stand or fall on that data.

         17                 In terms of specific things Mr.

         18  MacKay says. You heard some things about reaction

         19  time. Mr. MacKay in his deposition said that at .6

         20  seconds he saw pitchers getting hit regularly. .6

         21  seconds, according to his own charts, corresponds to

         22  60 miles an hour off the bat, that's 30 miles an

         23  hour less than the wood bat, according to his own

         24  charts.

         25                 So, if you believe his testimony, all
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          2  wood bats are far beyond the danger level. That's

          3  all in sworn testimony. He can't keep his story

          4  straight and that's why we're emphasizing that, Mr.

          5  Chairman.

          6                 Mr. MacKay referred repeatedly to a

          7  second NCAA study that he thought provided the true

          8  facts. This is the pitcher hit by a batted ball

          9  study. And I'm glad that he raised it, because that

         10  study doesn't tell you a whole lot.

         11                 The NCAA ISS study, the one we

         12  referred to, recognized study, been around for 15

         13  years, has a very specific definition of injury.

         14  Injury means you're out for a game, and you've been

         15  treated, you've got medical treatment, makes sense,

         16  same definition for football, baseball, basketball,

         17  soccer.

         18                 This study was put in, as Mr. MacKay

         19  said, at his and his colleagues behest.

         20                 This study doesn't require that there

         21  be an injury for it to be reported. It just requires

         22  the contact. And the particular example we have here

         23  is one example, here you have a pitcher, one hot

         24  ball came, hit him in the chin, he didn't leave the

         25  game, he received no medical attention. And it's
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          2  reported as part of this study.

          3                 So, when you hear 375 injuries here,

          4  many of them are not injuries at all, they're simply

          5  contacts.

          6                 The CPSC by the way, looking at this

          7  data said it showed no trend of an increase in

          8  injuries even so. So, we don't believe this data

          9  suggests any problem at all. We believe the hard

         10  facts, as I've indicated, show that baseball is

         11  safe, and I'd be more than happy to answer questions

         12  about what I have said or what Mr. MacKay has said.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm going to let

         14  Councilman Oddo go first.

         15                 MR. ETTINGER: I'm sure he's raring to

         16  go.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Yes, I figured

         18  I'd like him go, rather than just trying to hold him

         19  down.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Ettinger, if

         21  Cage Ishi was hit with a ball off an aluminum bat,

         22  he'd be dead today. And if you don't believe me, go

         23  ask Norm Charlton. Because Norma Charlton was hit in

         24  the head with a ball off a wooden bat, and those are

         25  his words. Ask Al Leighter (phonetic), as the
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          2  pitchers in major league baseball.

          3                 So, Cage Ishi, it was a tragedy,

          4  there is a risk in playing baseball on any level,

          5  but if Cage Ishi was on the mound and they were

          6  swinging one of your bats, he'd be dead and there

          7  would be a roster spot open for the Los Angeles

          8  Dodgers. That's the first thing.

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, wait a second.

         10  Mr. Oddo, I know it's not a question, but do I get

         11  to give an answer anyhow?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I've been

         13  looking forward, sir, for this moment for 15 months,

         14  so knock yourself out.

         15                 MR. ETTINGER: Okay. The fact is it's

         16  easy to make claims, and a lot of people do. When

         17  you look at the data, the data shows, especially

         18  with the current bats that the difference isn't

         19  there, and I think it's very important for the

         20  safety of kids and the ability of kids to use the

         21  bats they want, and to be able to use bats that

         22  they're not going to have to replace, that you would

         23  base this on data and science and not rhetoric, and

         24  that's what I'd like to say.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I don't
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          2  know what that has to do with Cage Ishi.

          3                 But you made a comment that I alluded

          4  to earlier in the testimony, "the ball comes off no

          5  faster than the best wooden bat." Do you stand by

          6  that comment today?

          7                 MR. ETTINGER: Bats that have been

          8  tested by the NCAA, that's correct, under the BESR

          9  standard.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you know that

         11  that flies in the face of an incredible amount of

         12  data.

         13                 Do you really want to start off your

         14  testimony --

         15                 MR. ETTINGER: I would like you to

         16  cite the data --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you really

         18  want to start off the testimony with that claim?

         19                 MR. ETTINGER: Bring it on.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You're claiming

         21  that the ball comes off of one of your bats, one of

         22  your $250 bats, no faster than a wooden bat. Let me

         23  ask you something, how much do you spend on

         24  advertising a year?

         25                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't know the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  numbers.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You don't have

          4  the numbers.

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: I'm not sure what that

          6  has to do with your assertion.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: After all of

          8  your research, after all of your contracts with

          9  ALCOA, after all of the generation, after all of the

         10  advertisement talking about performance, your

         11  language, not mine, you're going to stand by and

         12  you're going to start out your testimony by saying

         13  that you believe that the ball does not come off

         14  your product any faster than a wooden bat?

         15                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Oddo, the NCAA set

         16  up a rule, and we abide by it, and our bats are

         17  tested by Mr. Baum's machine and that's what they

         18  show.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You've been

         20  violating the protocol, and you've been violating

         21  that rule since the 1980s, and this Committee, this

         22  Committee hearing could last for weeks, if we

         23  allowed it.

         24                 MR. ETTINGER: Can I respond to that

         25  for a minute? You said we've been violating this
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          2  rule since the 1980s --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You violated the

          4  black --

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: Excuse me, Mr. Oddo,

          6  can I please respond?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You've violated

          8  the black bat rule since 1988.

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: This rule didn't exist

         10  until 1999, so I'd suggest you get your facts

         11  straight.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, no, no, sir.

         13  There was an agreement internally within the

         14  industry and the NCAA that you wouldn't build bats

         15  that performed better than the Black Magic, and you

         16  have, okay?

         17                 Let me ask you this, Mr. Ettinger --

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: Can I respond to that,

         19  Mr. Oddo?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, let me ask

         21  you a question, Mr. Ettinger.

         22                 MR. ETTINGER: Okay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The NCAA came up

         24  with a protocol in 1999, and it was three-pronged.

         25  The third prong was, according to their Blue Ribbon

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  Panel, that they wanted an exit speed sort of cap.

          3  That exit speed I believe was 93 and 94 miles per

          4  hour.

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: That's not correct. The

          6  Blue Ribbon Panel set it at 97 miles per hour.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, is it true

          8  that Easton Sports instituted a suit, or threatened

          9  to institute a suit for $267 million restraint to

         10  trade, saying that $140 million of your inventory

         11  would be useless, and mysteriously the NCAA ignored

         12  its own Blue Ribbon Panel?

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: No, you've got the

         14  facts exactly wrong. Let me explain to you what

         15  happened.

         16                 In August of 1998, listening to Mr.

         17  MacKay, the NCAA adopted a 93 mile an hour rule that

         18  we thought was wrong. We brought a lawsuit and said

         19  you haven't looked at the science.

         20                 After that the NCAA established their

         21  Blue Ribbon Panel, and their panel on their own set

         22  the rule at 97, and we said that's fine. These guys

         23  did it, they found there was no safety problem but

         24  they said let's set it at wood anyhow to set the

         25  record straight and avoid any problems, and we have
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          2  lived with that.

          3                 Those are the facts, they're

          4  documented, there's no question about it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Ettinger,

          6  this is the New York City Council, this is New York

          7  City. We're a little bit sophisticated. You're not

          8  going to be able to convince this body with that.

          9                 You're telling me that the NCAA,

         10  after its Blue Ribbon Panel came to the conclusion

         11  of a three-pronged approach, suddenly after you

         12  instituted a lawsuit, or threatened to institute a

         13  lawsuit, they didn't change their third standard in

         14  terms of the exit speed; is that what you're

         15  testifying to?

         16                 MR. ETTINGER: No. What I'm saying to

         17  you is, if you do your homework, the Panel wasn't

         18  created until after we sued.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Sir, I've done

         20  my homework. So, the Panel wasn't created until

         21  after you sued.

         22                 Mr. Ettinger, all right, let's move

         23  on.

         24                 MR. ETTINGER: And the panel

         25  recommended 97 and we're abiding by it. Those are
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          2  the facts.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But, sir, you're

          4  abiding by 97, do you watch the HBO tape? That 97

          5  number, bats that are certified for high school and

          6  the NCAA is so illusory. You're talking about tests

          7  under conditions that little leaguers play under.

          8  You're talking about tests of 70 mile per hour

          9  pitchers against bat swings of 66. You know that's

         10  not realistic. You know in the real world your bats

         11  have exit speeds that exceed the 97 a mile per hour

         12  cap by far, and you know what that translates into?

         13  That translates into balls off bats that get to

         14  pitchers and players much quicker.

         15                 Tell me, why hasn't there been tests

         16  of actual game studies where the speed of the ball

         17  being pitched, the speed of the bat being swung,

         18  will generate legitimate exit speeds?

         19                 MR. ETTINGER: The answer is there

         20  have been, it's the Crisco study we've cited and

         21  that study shows that for bats that were comparable

         22  to the NCAA requirements, there was a two mile an

         23  hour difference, that was before the 97 mile an hour

         24  requirement was put into place.

         25                 The fact is that this is a relative
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          2  test, granted it's at lower swing and pit speeds,

          3  and the reason is Mr. Baum's machine, our opponent,

          4  and we don't like his machine, but his machine

          5  breaks when it goes faster.

          6                 So, the NCAA, contrary to our views

          7  picked it, but since it's a relative test, it's

          8  going to have a lower wood speed and a lower metal

          9  speed. So, if you're talking about a metal speed

         10  equal to wood, that's not a problem, because both

         11  would be higher or lower as you vary the swing or

         12  pit speed.

         13                 That's the opinion of the opponents

         14  of the aluminum bats, Mr. Baum, and we've lived with

         15  that because the NCAA has adopted it. It's a

         16  relative test, it doesn't matter what the additional

         17  number is, wood and aluminum relative to one another

         18  are going to be the same either way. Wood bat speeds

         19  are much faster in game conditions as well, and

         20  everybody is happy to live with that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The United

         22  States Consumer Product Safety Commission, in page

         23  one of its internal memo, said that non-wood bats

         24  are now purchased primarily because they enhance

         25  batter performance, they enable players to hit balls
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          2  faster, farther and interplay more than wood bats.

          3  That's United States Consumer Product Safety

          4  Commission saying that, that's not me, that's on

          5  page one.

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: Could I respond to

          7  that, Mr. Oddo?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I'm sorry?

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: Could I respond to

         10  that?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Surely.

         12                 MR. ETTINGER: When Easton talks about

         13  performance, it talks about a lot of things.

         14  Performance means, among other things, a consistent

         15  bat, a more forgiving bat so when a kid hits it and

         16  doesn't hit it right on the center of percussion,

         17  that there's not a sting, and he's able to be more

         18  effective and more competitive. Performance means a

         19  lot of things, and Easton is proud of the

         20  performance of its bats.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You're saying

         22  performance doesn't mean that your advertisers are

         23  geared to convince kids and parents that the balls

         24  go farther?

         25                 MR. ETTINGER: Our advertising is
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          2  geared to convince kids they're going to have a

          3  better game with that bat, and they do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, that's a

          5  good piece of spin, sir.

          6                 The killer bat, the attack bat, all

          7  of the advertising you do is to say to kids and say

          8  to parents that when they swing the bats, the bats

          9  won't vibrate in their hands?

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: That's not what I said,

         11  Mr. Oddo, and you know it. I can repeat it again but

         12  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Let's go again

         14  to this assertion that this exit speed is only

         15  increased by two, three miles per hour. Do you

         16  believe the United States Consumer Product Safety

         17  Commission when they say that the severity of any

         18  injury caused by ball impact is a function of a

         19  magnitude of kinetic energy the ball has an impact.

         20  Which is Jack MacKay's assertion.

         21                 Since the kinetic energy of a ball is

         22  proportional to the square of the ball's velocity,

         23  modest increases in velocity may result in dramatic

         24  increases and severity of injury.

         25                 Isn't it common sense, sir, that if
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          2  you hit the ball harder and the ball gets to the kid

          3  faster and quicker, that the injuries will be more

          4  severe?

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: Which question do you

          6  want me to answer? I would say if I was in court,

          7  Mr. Oddo, let me address each of them, if I may.

          8                 The Consumer Product Safety

          9  Commission, and I believe the next sentence, though

         10  I can't grab it quickly said something like,

         11  however, this is theoretical and it remains to be

         12  seen if that kinetic energy theory matters in fact.

         13  That's what they said in the same place.

         14                 When you go to your next question,

         15  which is, doesn't it stand to reason, first of all,

         16  as I said, the test is set so that the ball hits no

         17  faster than the best wood, so the difference should

         18  be zero.

         19                 If the difference is a couple miles

         20  per hour, as was true of the immediate prior bats,

         21  not the bats under the current rule, according to

         22  not Easton, but Mr. Crisco's, Dr. Crisco's study,

         23  two miles an hour is a difference in .005 seconds in

         24  the time it takes the ball to get from the batter to

         25  the pitcher, five one-thousandths of a second, and I
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          2  would say there's no reason to believe that that

          3  will matter to any kid.

          4                 The data shows that if a pitcher is

          5  playing well, he will react in plenty of time. If he

          6  makes a mistake, and tragically it happens, he may

          7  get hit, whether it's wood or aluminum, and five

          8  one-thousandths of a second aren't going to matter.

          9  But you don't need to believe what these scientists

         10  say in those issues either, because bottom line is,

         11  get back to the injuries, because the statistics

         12  don't show a problem. You can look high and low and

         13  you will find no shred of evidence that a single kid

         14  has been injured because of the use of an aluminum

         15  bat.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You can say

         17  that, and you have to deal with your own conscience,

         18  and look at yourself every morning in the mirror.

         19                 To answer Council Member, to get to

         20  the heart of Council Member Vann's question. You

         21  guys control the stats, you control it. The NCAA

         22  coaches and trainers who are receiving money from

         23  the bat manufacturers, make the decision --

         24                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Oddo --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Wait. Now can I
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          2  finish?

          3                 MR. ETTINGER: Sorry.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Make the

          5  decision whether or not to submit that. It's a

          6  voluntary system that maybe ten percent of the

          7  schools have participated in.

          8                 Because those numbers and that data

          9  isn't in one particular place, because it's

         10  difficult to do, and that's my frustration, that

         11  doesn't mean that the injuries aren't happening and

         12  the injuries aren't real.

         13                 Tell that to Jeremy Breggs

         14  (phonetic). Tell that to Anthony Ricci. Tell that to

         15  Sanchez. Tell that to Barry. Tell it to these

         16  people, what you're saying to me right now. Tell

         17  that to the real people who have been injured, real

         18  kids in my district, tell that, all your nice

         19  language and you're earning a paycheck today, tell

         20  that, the bats are safer, tell those parents.

         21                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Oddo, let me

         22  respond to each of your points again in sequence.

         23                 First of all, this notion that the

         24  coaches are controlled and that affects the data is

         25  false in several ways.
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          2                 The percentage of coaches that are

          3  under any contract at all at the college level is a

          4  few percent. It's less than five percent. So, the

          5  vast majority of coaches are getting money from

          6  nobody, and, therefore, it's not influencing any

          7  reporting under any theory, even if you believe that

          8  every coach you get is under a contract, like

          9  Michael Jordan is for sneakers, or Mike Jarvis at

         10  St. John's is for sneakers is correct, and I don't

         11  believe it for a moment, but 95 percent or more of

         12  those coaches are under no contract. No coaches at

         13  the high school level are under contract, and

         14  they're all picking aluminum bats.

         15                 Secondly, even if you didn't believe

         16  that, these statistics are not just from the NCAA,

         17  they're from the Little League, they're from the

         18  P.O.N.Y. League, they're from the Babe Ruth League,

         19  every source is the same. And just by maligning

         20  these people you can't ignore the past.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And how many of

         22  those industries, how many of those organizations

         23  receive money from the bat manufacturers?

         24                 MR. ETTINGER: Some of them receive

         25  some support and some don't --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Some receive

          3  substantial support?

          4                 MR. ETTINGER: My understanding is

          5  it's about one percent of the budget of one of these

          6  organizations, so it's not substantial.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think the

          8  record would show that they receive substantial

          9  support, as does the NCAA, not only coaches, the

         10  NCAA itself.

         11                 When the NCAA has scores that are 12

         12  to 11 and the ratings go up and then they sell

         13  ratings, doesn't that make a lot of money for the

         14  NCAA and for the ESPNs of the world?

         15                 Isn't that the driving force here?

         16                 MR. ETTINGER: If you're saying that

         17  aluminum bats make the game more competitive and

         18  popular, I agree with you. If you're saying there's

         19  something wrong with that I fail to see it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, certainly

         21  there's something wrong with it if the players, the

         22  people that the NCAA, the National High School

         23  Federation Williamsport Little League is supposed to

         24  protect and their concern is a higher score, because

         25  the higher score is what America wants, and America,
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          2  and that translates into ratings which translates

          3  into money, of course there's something wrong.

          4                 MR. ETTINGER: America wants higher

          5  scores, and the players enjoy it, and the game is

          6  safe as it is, that's exactly what ought to happen.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And that's what

          8  the issue is, sir, whether the game is safe.

          9                 Let me go back to an earlier point

         10  about the study, in terms of exit speeds.

         11                 I have in front of me a result of the

         12  test that Steve Baum had done, where when the ball

         13  speed is 60 miles per hour and the bat speed is 62,

         14  exit speed is around anywhere from 84 to close to

         15  90. When the ball speed goes up to 70 and the bat

         16  speed is 72, the exit speed goes up, a wooden bat

         17  it's 91, an Easton model, BRX4E goes around 101, the

         18  Louisville model CB7 goes out to around 102. When

         19  the ball speed goes up as high as 80, the bat speed

         20  at 82, now we're talking about real world, you have

         21  aluminum bat made by Easton at 113 miles per hour.

         22  You have the aluminum bat made by Louisville at 114

         23  miles per hour. That's Steve Baum's study.

         24                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, there's two

         25  problems. First of all, those aren't his numbers,
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          2  that I know his numbers very well.

          3                 Secondly, those aren't the current

          4  bats, those go back several years before the NCAA

          5  rule.

          6                 And, third, if Steve Baum's data ever

          7  became important to the Committee, I would urge you

          8  to subpoena his underlying data, because while I

          9  can't disclose the details because of a

         10  confidentiality order that he wants, the fact is

         11  that his numbers are cooked.

         12                 But even if you take his numbers at

         13  face value, those aren't the numbers, and those

         14  aren't the relevant bats that are being used today.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So let me get

         16  this again.

         17                 So, the $250 bat, the bat that's

         18  around $200 more than the wooden bat, doesn't

         19  perform any better than the wooden bat, doesn't hit

         20  the ball any faster or farther than the wooden bat.

         21  Why are we charging them $250 for a bat that's

         22  generally the same performing as the wooden bat.

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: I didn't say it's the

         24  same. I said it's more consistent, it's more

         25  durable, it's more forgiving. It allows kids who
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          2  aren't the best hitters to get a good hit, where

          3  with a wood bat they might just get a sting. It has

          4  a lot of advantages that have caused players and

          5  coaches and parents --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think the

          7  biggest advantage of the bat is that it gives you an

          8  opportunity to mark up the price of these bats and

          9  make a whole lot of money.

         10                 How much is the metal bat industry in

         11  America today?

         12                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't know the dollar

         13  figure, and, by the way, the bats range in price at

         14  wholesale from Easton --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it $100

         16  million?

         17                 MR. ETTINGER: Can I finish, please?

         18                 As low as $25 per bat. There's a wide

         19  variation in prices and people can choose the bats

         20  they want.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it a $100

         22  million industry?

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't know the

         24  number.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it a $200
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          2  million industry?

          3                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't know.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it a $300

          5  million industry?

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: If I didn't know the

          7  first ones, I guess I don't know the next one.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think if you

          9  go back, you're the spokesman for Easton and you

         10  don't know how much the industry makes as a whole?

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: I really don't know the

         12  dollar figure.

         13                 It's a large industry. It's a large

         14  industry and I will agree with you that Easton makes

         15  money from bats, and Easton does so, because it

         16  provides safe bats that people want to use, and

         17  Easton is certainly unapologetic about that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are these bats

         19  at their zenith right now, in terms of performance?

         20                 MR. ETTINGER: The NCAA has set rules

         21  and other groups set standards and we make bats to

         22  those standards.

         23                 Could somebody make a bat that goes

         24  beyond those standards? I think it is possible to do

         25  so but we're not doing so, we're complying with
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          2  those rules.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Jim Easton said

          4  in 1992 that the industry had reached its zenith in

          5  terms of performance and metal bats.

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: I'm sorry, was there a

          7  question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yeah, the

          9  question is was the Chairman of your company wrong

         10  in 1992?

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: As I understand the

         12  history of the early nineties, certainly to some

         13  degree bats got higher performing since, and the

         14  bats used today, by the way, I think are very close

         15  in performance, maybe less in performance than the

         16  B9 Black Magic Mr. MacKay referred to from the late

         17  1980s, because they comply with these standards.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The bat that

         19  you're charging $250 today perform less than the bat

         20  in the 1980s?

         21                 MR. ETTINGER: I'm saying in terms of

         22  exit velocity, the current bats are at about maybe a

         23  little bit below the Black Magic.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: All right, we're

         25  going to go in circles again because it complies
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          2  with the rule as established by an artificially low

          3  testing protocol.

          4                 MR. ETTINGER: I shouldn't get

          5  irritated, but maybe I'm not explaining it well.

          6  It's a relative test, and the idea is you want to

          7  test aluminum so it's the same as wood. If the swing

          8  speed and pit speed are low, it's going to be low

          9  for both wood and aluminum.

         10                 Therefore, let me finish, please,

         11  since I apparently didn't get it across the way I'd

         12  like to.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Go ahead.

         14                 MR. ETTINGER: Therefore, if it's low

         15  for both wood and aluminum, you're going to get the

         16  same relative result, you're going to get a correct

         17  answer as to whether aluminum is higher than wood,

         18  whether it's lower or higher. It wasn't Easton's

         19  idea to use it this way. Mr. Baum's machine, which

         20  we don't like, when Mr. Baum was an opponent of

         21  aluminum bats, can't set it higher because the bats

         22  break, and that's why the NCAA did it that way.

         23                 When you look at results in the

         24  field, Dr. Crisco's study of a bat that's a little

         25  hotter than the current bats, the difference was
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          2  only two miles an hour. That's a scientific study of

          3  bats in the field.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, you're

          5  saying that the top of the line bats that you have

          6  right now, we put them in the field, and we put a

          7  juggs gun and we radar and we measure the speed of

          8  balls coming off all of those bats that you have in

          9  the field right now, they would hit the ball no

         10  faster than 97 miles per hour; is that what you're

         11  saying.

         12                 MR. ETTINGER: No. I'm saying they

         13  didn't go faster than the best wood. If you took a

         14  wood bat in the field it would hit faster than 97

         15  miles per hour.

         16                 My point, and I guess I'm not

         17  explaining it well, and I apologize, is that it's a

         18  relative test. If you swing faster and pitch faster,

         19  the wood bats hit faster and the aluminum bats hit

         20  faster, but they will hit the same, at either the

         21  lower speed or the higher speed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you have any

         23  concerns, does your company have any concerns when

         24  they see tapes like HBO and the real sports segment?

         25  I mean, you've criticized Mr. MacKay, but what about

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  Bryant Gomel, HBO Sports, Armen Catayin and that

          3  report, do you criticize them? Are they liars as

          4  well?

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't believe they're

          6  liars. I believe that any injuries are very

          7  regrettable, and Easton wouldn't want to make bats

          8  that cause unnecessary injuries, and it doesn't. But

          9  with wood bats, or aluminum bats, those injuries

         10  occur. Most of the injuries in baseball, including

         11  most of the serious ones have nothing to do with

         12  batted balls. As the NCAA statistics show, only five

         13  percent of injuries in baseball are from batted

         14  balls. It's unfortunately a part of the game.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Ettinger,

         16  would you say that safety is a higher priority for

         17  your company than the bottom line?

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: Safety comes first,

         19  yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Safety comes

         21  first.

         22                 So, let me ask you, do you have the

         23  ability to make metal bats that perform exactly like

         24  wooden bats?

         25                 MR. ETTINGER: I guess I'm not being
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          2  clear again, because under the NCAA rules, we are

          3  making metal bats that in terms of exit velocity are

          4  like wood, in other ways they're better than wood

          5  and people like them better because they're more

          6  consistent, more forgiving, more durable and so on.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Ettinger, I

          8  don't believe that for a second. I'll let my

          9  colleagues make their own determination about that,

         10  that's what this is about.

         11                 But I find it incredibly hard to

         12  believe, and I think it defies common sense that

         13  after all of these years in the industry, after all

         14  of the research, after all of the contracts with

         15  ALCOA, that you are telling us that you're producing

         16  a bat that doesn't perform measurably above and

         17  beyond a wooden bat.

         18                 All of the research, all of the

         19  money, all of the advertising, and you're producing

         20  a product that is better than a wooden bat simply

         21  because it gives a kid a chance to hit the ball and

         22  put the ball in play when he doesn't hit it on the

         23  sweet spot of the bat, which by the way, if I may

         24  put on my baseball purest hat, completely perverts

         25  the game of baseball and teaches the kid, and
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          2  teaches the kid how not to swing a bat correctly.

          3  But that's for a discussion over a cup of coffee one

          4  day, that's not my concern here.

          5                 But you're saying after all of the

          6  money, after all of the contracts with ALCOA and

          7  Kaiser, after all of the advertisements, you're

          8  producing a bat that's better, simply in that it

          9  cuts away the vibration and it lets a little 12 year

         10  old to pick up the bat and play. That defies common

         11  sense to me.

         12                 MR. ETTINGER: I guess I'm not being

         13  articulate, because I didn't say it's simple, and I

         14  didn't say it's just that. It makes the game more

         15  competitive, the example I gave was a sweet spot,

         16  the bats are more consistent, they're more durable,

         17  they allow kids who aren't the best athletes to play

         18  better, and that's not a simple thing to do, and

         19  Easton has spent a lot of money and done a lot of

         20  research to make those bats and that's why people

         21  buy them because they like them for those reasons.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Ettinger,

         23  some of your energetic lobbying of my colleagues,

         24  you gave them a statement that you didn't obviously

         25  put in testimony today, and I want it part of the
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          2  record.

          3                 You gave one of my colleagues

          4  something that said "Little League Baseball reported

          5  injuries to pitchers decreased 76 percent between

          6  1992 and 2001, even as the number of participants

          7  increased.

          8                 It's not the first time we've heard

          9  this number 76.

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: I did use it, that was

         11  my second --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Oh, you did

         13  mention it, great. And we have on Little League's

         14  website the same thing.

         15                 Are you familiar with the Consumer

         16  Product Safety Commission memorandum that talks

         17  about that?

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: They actually validated

         19  the numbers in one of their footnotes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Actually what

         21  they said is they took the industry to task, because

         22  you equate a decrease in injuries with a decrease in

         23  secondary claims to Little League.

         24                 Let me read it, if I may Mr.

         25  Chairman, and make it part of the record.
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          2                 Little League baseball incorporated

          3  issued a statement that there has been a 76 percent

          4  decrease in reported injuries to pitchers as a

          5  result of batted balls over the eight-season period

          6  beginning in 1992. Quote: "A more accurate

          7  interpretation of the Little League data would be

          8  that secondary medical insurance claims involving

          9  pitchers hit by batted balls in Little League have

         10  decreased."

         11                 Little League has assumed there was a

         12  decrease in the number of injuries but has not

         13  established that fact. Isn't it true that at one

         14  point in time Little League baseball --

         15                 MR. ETTINGER: Could I respond to that

         16  first, please, before you go to the next question?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Sure.

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: Several things on this.

         19                 First of all, your own staff report,

         20  the Committee report points out a study where it

         21  says that this is an appropriate method of measuring

         22  injury. And I've done some more homework on this.

         23  When I met with Councilman Gallagher, he raised some

         24  issues here, and I went back and did some homework

         25  and tried to look for ways in which this data could
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          2  possibly be biased, and what I found was every

          3  question I answered suggested the opposite.

          4                 For example, I addressed the very

          5  point raised by the Consumer Product Safety

          6  Commission, and I asked Dan Kirby at Little League,

          7  has there been any change in the percentage of

          8  people who get their primary claims out of Little

          9  League, and I got the year-by-year figures. I'd be

         10  happy to provide them to the Committee. They're

         11  essentially flat, over '93 to 2001, for interim 25

         12  to 29 percent, a couple of years around 33 percent.

         13                 So, that didn't change. There was no

         14  change in benefits, there was no change in policy

         15  exclusions.

         16                 The data that we provided indicates

         17  that the number of people provided by their

         18  insurance actually went up over time. So, we've done

         19  more homework, we've looked at this, and I don't see

         20  any way one could argue, and I know a little bit

         21  about statistics, that this data is not a good

         22  reflection of the injury rate.

         23                 But if you don't believe the little

         24  league, you've got Babe Ruth and P.O.N.Y. League

         25  saying the same thing. I think this is good, hard
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          2  data and there is no other way to interpret it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, you're

          4  saying that Little League Baseball once was the --

          5  most Little Leagues across the country received

          6  their insurance through Little League Baseball at

          7  one point. Now many Little Leagues across the

          8  country have little Bobby Smith's dad or mom who is

          9  an insurance agent, and they go in a local insurer.

         10                 Are you saying that the number of,

         11  the percentage of Little Leagues that Little League

         12  Baseball has served as the insurer for has not

         13  decreased over the years?

         14                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, the data that we

         15  have received from Little League, and you have it

         16  there, says that the number of people that purchase

         17  Little League group accident insurance has increased

         18  from 2.4 million in 1992 to 2.7 million in 2001. So,

         19  I guess I'm saying just that based on their data.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: That doesn't fly

         21  with my experience locally on Staten Island, and I

         22  would say that doesn't fly Citywide, that the

         23  experience has been there was once a point in time

         24  where everyone went through Little League, and lots

         25  of folks don't. So, naturally there's going to be a
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          2  decrease in claims to Little League baseball, and

          3  you can't equate a decrease in claims with a

          4  decrease in injuries. I mean, talking about leap of

          5  --

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, if people are

          7  seriously injured, they're going to make a claim.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But not

          9  necessarily through Little League baseball.

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: The national data which

         11  I have just cited makes clear the number of people

         12  doing it through Little League baseball has gone up

         13  over time. If you have a different experience in

         14  Staten Island, I guess Staten Island is different,

         15  but that doesn't make these national statistics

         16  inaccurate.

         17                 Nationally more people are getting

         18  the insurance while the number of injuries from

         19  batted balls is going down. That's what the

         20  statistics unequivocally state.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do I cede the

         22  microphone back to you, Mr. Chairman?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We have a large

         24  number of witnesses and I have a few questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And I know you

          3  waited 15 months for the opportunity, but we have to

          4  cut the testimony somewhere less than 15 months.

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Oddo, we can go out

          6  for a beer and continue this whenever you want.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You can have one

          8  or two more, Councilman.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: If I may, I'd

         10  like to come back when you're done.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. Ettinger, you

         12  saw the Armen Catayin (phonetic) Bryant Gumble video

         13  clip this morning, do you think it would have been

         14  as good a TV segment for Bryant Gumble and Armen

         15  Catayin if they had found out that aluminum bats

         16  were safe?

         17                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, I think not. And

         18  I don't want to criticize any particular journalist,

         19  or a journalist in general, but sometimes things are

         20  sensational and emotional and I think one has to

         21  look at the facts, not the emotions.

         22                 You could show clips, as I said, to

         23  people being hit by wood bats, too, that wouldn't

         24  resolve the issue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: A little sexier,
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          2  right? To run it that way?

          3                 MR. ETTINGER: One could say that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I guess they sell

          5  their show on ratings, too, right?

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: I think that's right,

          7  though I'm no expert on TV.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I think I

          9  understood your testimony on performance, let me see

         10  if I got it clear, that exist speed is only one

         11  measure of a bat's performance. And we can argue

         12  about whether or not having an artificially large

         13  sweet spot is a good thing for my kid or not, but

         14  that would be one measure of the performance of the

         15  bat, or ability would be another measure of the

         16  performance of the bat; would that be accurate?

         17                 MR. ETTINGER: I think that's correct,

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, when you're

         20  selling your bat, as this is a capitalist country,

         21  we sell things, and we try and point out their

         22  strong points, you're not selling exit speed, you're

         23  selling other performance data?

         24                 MR. ETTINGER: Right. Our bats are

         25  BESR certified, and that means they've got to meet

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  this wood standard.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And Councilman

          4  Oddo asked you questions about your restraint to

          5  trade suit, were there any other restraint to trade

          6  suits filed at the same time?

          7                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, you know, the

          8  NCAA was sued for restraining trade among coaches'

          9  wages, another antitrust suit about the same time,

         10  and that suit succeeded.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And was there a

         12  wood bat company that filed a suit as well?

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: The first lawsuit was

         14  filed by Mr. Baum, who complained that the NCAA was

         15  restraining trade by not banning aluminum bats. The

         16  antitrust claim that Mr. Baum had was thrown out

         17  immediately. There is another aspect of that case

         18  that's still going on.

         19                 Your right, Mr. Baum's suit filed the

         20  first lawsuit.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay.

         22                 Let's talk about wood bats for a

         23  second. Do you have any data, or have there been any

         24  studies as to whether or not there's any danger from

         25  wood bats breaking in use?
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          2                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't have any data

          3  on that. We know that it happens, but I can't stay

          4  to any specific statistics.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And would there

          6  be danger to Little League players in positions

          7  other than pitcher, from a broken wooden bat?

          8                 MR. ETTINGER: I think there could be,

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I mean, might a

         11  catcher not be in danger if a wood bat splintered

         12  while being swung?

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Do aluminum bats

         15  shatter in that fashion?

         16                 MR. ETTINGER: No, they don't, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you.

         19                 MR. ETTINGER: Aluminum bats can break

         20  but it's not the same kind of problem.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, how do

         22  aluminum bats break when they break?

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: I guess, and I'm sorry,

         24  but I'm probably not the best qualified person to

         25  answer that question, as to precisely how they break
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          2  when they break.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: But is it a

          4  likelihood that a piece of an aluminum bat will go

          5  flying off from a swing of a batter?

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't believe so, Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I mean, I'll go

          9  back to our World Series experience, we've seen

         10  rather vividly on national TV wooden bats go flying

         11  as far as the pitcher, then unfortunately flying

         12  back from the pitcher, I might add. So, that's not

         13  something that can happen with an aluminum bat, but

         14  could potentially provide an injury from a wooden

         15  bat.

         16                 MR. ETTINGER: That's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And you don't

         18  know of any studies that have been done on wooden

         19  bats to see whether or not the danger from

         20  shattering is in any way comparable to the danger

         21  that is created assuming that the science that says

         22  the exit speed is greater is accurate?

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: No, and I think that's

         24  because people recognize that that kind of injury is

         25  an inevitable part of the game, and like many other
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          2  kinds of injuries, unfortunately.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Do any other

          4  Committee members have any questions for Mr.

          5  Ettinger?

          6                 Councilman Vann, then Councilman

          7  DeBlasio.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Good morning.

          9  Good afternoon, Mr. Ettinger.

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: Good afternoon.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: You said that

         12  aluminum bats make a player play better?

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: They can allow a player

         14  to hit better if the player, especially if the

         15  player is a little bit less skilled.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Hit better

         17  meaning more often or hit the ball further?

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: I think especially hit

         19  more often, because as I say, with a wood bat, if

         20  you don't hit it right on the center percussion, the

         21  sweet spot, there can be a sting, it can be

         22  unpleasant and harder to hit well.

         23                 The aluminum bat is more forgiving.

         24  There's a broader area in which you can get a decent

         25  hit.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay, I was

          3  wondering what that meant.

          4                 The other question goes back to what

          5  I asked Mr. MacKay. What percentages of coaches in

          6  amateur baseball league, whether it's Little League,

          7  College, High School, whatever, what percentages of

          8  them actually have contracts to use a particular

          9  bat?

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: It's a tiny

         11  percentage.  It only applies to coaches at very

         12  prominent college programs, just like in basketball,

         13  Mike Jarvis at St. John's, you know, a leading coach

         14  will get a contract because of the promotional value

         15  of saying, St. John's uses Nike or Michael Jordan

         16  uses Nike. So, that's true of us. Under five

         17  percent, I think it's like one or two percent of

         18  college coaches, and it's not true of any high

         19  school coaches or Little League coaches. So, the

         20  vast, vast majority of coaches are receiving no

         21  funds at all and are making decisions, you know,

         22  without regard to any monetary gain.

         23                 Even those coaches who do have

         24  contracts, their players are free to use what bats

         25  they choose.
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          2                 But this is no different than what

          3  goes on with sneakers or other athletic apparel.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So, all amateur

          5  teams are free to use a wooden bat or a non-wooden

          6  bat?

          7                 MR. ETTINGER: Absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: And the final

          9  question, again, what body of statistics and from

         10  whom were they derived that clearly indicates the

         11  injury level from non-wooden bars versus those from

         12  wooden bats; where did these statistics come from?

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: You know, most of the

         14  statistics, almost all the bats used at the amateur

         15  level are non-wood bats, aluminum bats. You don't

         16  have any direct comparisons. What you do have is a

         17  claim by people like Mr. MacKay that in the 1990s

         18  the aluminum bats have gotten more lively and more

         19  dangerous.

         20                 So, if that were true, you would

         21  expect an increasing injury rate in the 1990s and

         22  you don't see that.

         23                 All the statistics show that the

         24  injury rate is either flat or declining, and we

         25  think that shows that there is no increasing problem
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          2  from these bats at all.

          3                 It is true, by the way, that the

          4  trainer of the Pittsburgh Pirates, did a study of

          5  injury from wood bats in the major leagues, and he

          6  concluded that that's a higher frequency than occurs

          7  in college with aluminum bats, and that's of

          8  interest, though I would agree that Major League

          9  players are different than college players, and so

         10  there is no direct one-to-one comparison, but we

         11  think that all this data that shows low injury rates

         12  in college and at the amateur level, and flat or

         13  declining rates must mean there's not a problem,

         14  because in 1990 nobody was claiming any issue, and

         15  since then the injury rates have either been flat or

         16  declined.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So, most amateur

         18  teams are now using aluminum bats, the non-wooden

         19  bats.

         20                 MR. ETTINGER: And that's been true

         21  for 25 years.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: And coaches have

         23  a great influence how to determine the bats that are

         24  being used by their teams, and it would appear that

         25  they do not see the perils, the danger, that others
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          2  see with this. Would they put their players at risk

          3  by choosing a bat that would be more harmful than

          4  the one that they had used previously?

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: I think that's correct

          6  they would not, and lots of coaches are very upset

          7  by any proposal to ban aluminum bats because they

          8  think it makes the game more fun and more

          9  competitive.

         10                 They don't want to see a game where

         11  the batting averages are 235.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay, thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Councilman

         14  DeBlasio, and I think after the Councilman, in all

         15  fairness, guys, I think we're going to excuse this

         16  witness, take a break and call the others.

         17                 Council Member DeBlasio.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I want to

         19  thank Chairman Fidler for giving me the opportunity

         20  to sit in with the Committee today, and thank

         21  Council Member Oddo. We don't necessarily agree on

         22  every political item, but I agree with him 100

         23  percent on this issue and I'm proud to be a

         24  co-sponsor with him.

         25                 Mr. Ettinger, I appreciate the
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          2  consistency of your comments and the vehemence. I

          3  guess this starts with a common sense question for

          4  me. I coached Little League last year with my

          5  seven-year-old daughter, and my son starts in the

          6  spring, and I'm just looking at the common sense

          7  reality, my own experience with wooden and aluminum

          8  bats, my own experience watching games at different

          9  levels from the youngest on up, maybe there's not a

         10  specific answer for this but I find it astounding

         11  that anyone can testify there isn't a difference.

         12  I've just seen it for years and years in my own

         13  personal life, the difference, the impact, the

         14  speed, the distance, everything, the distance of the

         15  aluminum bats. I am not sure there's a particular

         16  new answer you have to that, but I just want to

         17  start by saying it's a common sense matter to me

         18  that the aluminum bat forces the ball to go so much

         19  more quickly that it does create a danger,

         20  particularly for the younger children.

         21                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, let me just add a

         22  couple of things. First of all, just to be clear, in

         23  the mid-nineties, the aluminum bats that were used

         24  hit the ball a little faster than the bats today,

         25  but when these rules got adapted, my company,
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          2  Easton, and I believe the others complied, and the

          3  bats are hitting the ball less fast than they did a

          4  few years ago.

          5                 So, it's a question again of what

          6  bats you're focusing on and what years.

          7                 The study, the Crisco study said that

          8  some bats, going back a few years, bats which are

          9  not used today, hit, five, six, seven, eight miles

         10  faster than wood, and I think that's still a small

         11  amount and I might argue with you about that, but

         12  today's bats are considerably less than that, zero

         13  or perhaps one or two miles per hour, and we believe

         14  zero.

         15                 So, you know, it depends on when your

         16  experience was in that regard.

         17                 And then the second question is, the

         18  bottom line is there's a lot of theories people can

         19  put out, you say look at the data, and I don't want

         20  to go back to it and belabor it, but we think the

         21  data is very compelling and unrebutted.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, let me

         23  speak to the data very quickly.

         24                 To be blunt, as much as I would like

         25  to like your industry, because I appreciate the
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          2  sports that you serve, I think it's very, very hard

          3  to claim that we should be -- hold sacred data from

          4  the Consumer Products Safety Commission or the NCAA,

          5  with all due respect to whatever good each of those

          6  entities has done. I think we've seen numerous

          7  instances in recent years where the actions of those

          8  two entities were compromised for political and

          9  financial reasons, and I think we're looking here,

         10  at the point, and Council Member Oddo said it, the

         11  impact of money on sports, and I just would say from

         12  the jump, I mean I'm looking at our own Committee

         13  report, and I do not believe that simply because the

         14  United States Consumer Product Safety Commission has

         15  passed on an issue, in other words passed, meaning

         16  not really issued a final judgment, that we should

         17  take comfort in that fact.

         18                 In fact, if you look at the data in

         19  our Committee report, even though it's based on a

         20  small number of incidents, this does say that four

         21  times as many deaths were caused by non-wood bats

         22  than by wood bats.

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: But non-wood bats are

         24  used over wood bats by a factor of probably 20 to

         25  one. So, if one were to infer anything from that,
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          2  and I'm not suggesting one should, you'd have to say

          3  that wood bats are more dangerous, since almost

          4  everybody in amateur baseball has used the non-wood

          5  bats, aluminum bats for 25 years, you know, you

          6  couldn't possible expect any other result and it

          7  proves nothing.

          8                 Let me just add in addition. You

          9  know, this is not a matter of just the Consumer

         10  Product Safety Commission, it's not a matter of just

         11  the NCAA, as we indicated 15 separate organizations

         12  have looked at this, they've concluded there is not

         13  a problem, and whether you, you know, agree with the

         14  general views of one particular organization or

         15  another, it's not just a couple of people, it's

         16  across the board. They've looked at it and they've

         17  not seen a problem.

         18                 Again, on the statistics, you can

         19  take any group of particular statistics and you can

         20  say this is not perfect for one reason or another,

         21  but they all support one another and there are no

         22  statistics to the contrary, in terms of --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, Mr.

         24  Ettinger, again, I'll be very brief. I understand

         25  the logic you're putting forward, but it seems to be
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          2  a logic that says, this is an imperfect situation,

          3  there is some danger here, but it's an acceptable

          4  level of danger. And I don't mean to put words in

          5  your mouth, I mean, it's going to be my personal

          6  interpretation. I mean, I'm looking at, again, at

          7  our own Committee report that reports on 51 deaths

          8  in ten years for a variety of reasons, 51 deaths,

          9  just to put it in perspective, if that were a single

         10  incident anywhere in the county it would be front

         11  page news for a week. We understand that there is an

         12  imperfection in any sport and there's always a

         13  possibility, but I guess my concern is your

         14  testimony seems to be saying, we have done something

         15  we think to make this acceptable, and I don't hear

         16  you saying we can make things safer.

         17                 In other words, I think you're almost

         18  saying, it's safe enough, let's move on. I ask the

         19  question, what can we do to make it safer, and why

         20  should we not go to wooden bats to make it safer?

         21                 MR. ETTINGER: I guess I haven't

         22  articulated my position very well, if that's what

         23  you understood me to say. Let me try to be a little

         24  clearer.

         25                 First of all, what we're saying is
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          2  that there is no evidence that there is any

          3  increased injury due to the use of aluminum bats

          4  versus other bats, so that it doesn't create any

          5  additional safety risk, and there's nothing in the

          6  data to suggest it. And, again, that number your

          7  citing to shows a less than proportional injury rate

          8  with aluminum bats compared to their use. So, if

          9  anything, it suggests the opposite.

         10                 Secondly, we're saying that there

         11  have been steps taken. There are performance

         12  standards at all the softball associations, at the

         13  NCAA, at the high school level, standards have been

         14  adopted, we've been cooperating, in some cases we've

         15  proposed those standards, and we're continuing to

         16  work with the national associations to do that.

         17                 So, while we frankly don't believe

         18  there's any problem, we're all so very sensitive to

         19  the perception and to any risk. And, so, we're

         20  trying to do things better and I think we have.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Lastly, I

         22  just want to refer to two charts from your packet.

         23                 On the previous question the Chairman

         24  was asking, I just want to make sure I'm

         25  understanding it correctly, the chart titled Most

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  Baseball Injuries Are Not Caused By Batted Balls, I

          3  don't see a category here on shattered bats, and I

          4  just want to make sure I'm reading it correctly. I

          5  think the questions are obviously very, very fair

          6  and relevant, but I just want to make sure I'm

          7  reading it correctly that this does not merit its

          8  own special line --

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, that's right,

         10  because everybody is using aluminum bats and they

         11  don't shatter. That's why. If this were a wood bat

         12  world you might see that item, and it might be a

         13  pretty good slice of the pie, I don't know.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Kind of makes my

         15  point bill.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I just

         17  wanted to make sure I was understanding what that

         18  universe was on it. But here's the concern I have.

         19  On the Youth, on the chart named Youth Baseball

         20  Injuries Have Been Declining, I'm confused by this

         21  chart. It appears to say, and I understand this is

         22  injuries for which payments were made. It seems to

         23  say there were only 30 injuries in the Year 2001 for

         24  which payments were made involving pitchers hit by

         25  bad balls. Is that a fair statement, that your chart
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          2  says only 30 injuries?

          3                 MR. ETTINGER: That's correct, yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Okay, I just

          5  want to say with all due respect, and there's a

          6  thousand ways to interpret data in this world, and

          7  this is based on 2.8 million participants. This is

          8  astounding to me and bluntly possible that this

          9  could be true, and this is your own chart.

         10                 Maybe one could argue that somehow

         11  people are not reporting these injuries or acting on

         12  them or getting payments for some reason. I'm sure

         13  some of the answer is that people choose not to

         14  pursue insurance payments or don't receive them for

         15  fair or unfair reasons, but when you take into

         16  account what I would assume are thousands of

         17  incidents in which insurance payments are not

         18  pursued, and when you take into account all the

         19  non-organized games in which people are using --

         20  this is very misleading to me. There is no way on

         21  earth than to cross this country there have only

         22  been 30 incidents in the Year 2001.

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, first of all,

         24  it's not misleading because nobody is suggesting

         25  this data applies to unorganized games or anything
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          2  other than the Little League organization.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Even with

          4  the Little League, with 2.8 million participants

          5  it's absolutely impossible.

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, we've talked to

          7  the Little League people about their data and

          8  they've said this data is valid. They've also said,

          9  by the way, and it's in one of the charts we

         10  include, that for the last three years they've

         11  canvassed for information not just injuries for

         12  which payments were made but all injuries, and what

         13  they found is, there is some for which payments are

         14  not made, but it does not dramatically change the

         15  results. Their total number for 2001, payments made

         16  or not made is 63.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Councilman, we

         18  will have someone here from Little League baseball

         19  testifying if you want to inquire.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I appreciate

         21  your indulgence, and I just want to, in closing, we

         22  welcome the additional testimony, but, again, this

         23  feels to me like a way for rationalizing what we

         24  have now and saying it's okay, as opposed to seeing

         25  the kind of information to tell us the true extent
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          2  of the problem and helping us understand how to make

          3  these boards safer for children.

          4                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, I'm sorry you

          5  feel that way, because I think we're well, I'm sorry

          6  you feel that way, because I think we're doing just

          7  the opposite, but I've explained why.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you.

         10                 We're going to take a ten-minute

         11  break. We're going to be followed by the testimony

         12  of the Ricci's whose child was a victim of a batted

         13  ball, and Louisville Slugger.  We do have testimony

         14  from Little Leagues, and Major League Baseball, and

         15  a whole host of other people, and we will get to all

         16  of you, especially those of you who traveled from a

         17  far distance.

         18                 So, please indulge us for about ten

         19  minutes. Thank you.

         20                 (Recess taken.)

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We have come back

         22  into session. I will say I appreciate the fact that

         23  some of our witnesses have flights and we will be

         24  adjusting our witness order to try and accommodate

         25  as many people as possible because we do very much
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          2  want to hear your testimony. But our next witnesses

          3  are Freddy and Anthony Ricci. I see they're already

          4  seated here. Thank you for coming.

          5                 MR. F. RICCI: Thank you for having

          6  us.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Fred, do you have

          8  a statement?

          9                 MR. F. RICCI: Yes.

         10                 I don't make wood benefits, I don't

         11  benefit by aluminum bats, I'm here as a concerned

         12  parent and as a coach.

         13                 In June 2001, my son Anthony was

         14  playing third base for Verrazano Babe Ruth.

         15                 He was playing up a little, part of

         16  the game. Blind drive comes. His reflexes weren't

         17  enough to get his glove up and deflect the ball into

         18  this mouth, and it knocked two teeth completely out,

         19  fractured the ridge bone in his gums on the top, and

         20  pushed in the bottom teeth. That was 15 months ago.

         21  Today his teeth are still loose. We don't know if

         22  he's going to need implants. From that day on I've

         23  been an advocate of aluminum bars -- wooden bats.

         24                 All the statistics that were given

         25  can't be compared to sitting in an emergency room
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          2  with your son with teeth getting knocked out, blood

          3  drenched down to his underwear. It's not a good

          4  scene.

          5                 So, all the statistics that you have,

          6  they don't mean a thing to me. I challenge anyone to

          7  go home, take a baseball, flip it to your son, and

          8  let him hit it with a wooden bat, and then flip him

          9  the same ball and let him hit it with an aluminum

         10  bat, and you tell me that there's no difference.

         11  There's a big difference.

         12                 I've heard about insurance. We've

         13  dealt with Little League insurance, K&A Insurance. I

         14  was on the Board of Directors for Gray Kills Little

         15  League, the only time you notify Little League

         16  Insurance is if your primary insurance doesn't cover

         17  the injury.

         18                 So, if his teeth were covered by my

         19  insurance, K&A Insurance wouldn't have even been

         20  notified, it's a secondary insurance.

         21                 So, half the injuries that happen in

         22  Little League, that Little League Insurance knows

         23  about, I can't see how that's a real number. I

         24  believe the gentleman said there was, the number he

         25  gave, 2 million, and the amount of injuries, I don't

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            128

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  see how those are real factual numbers.

          3                 What I know as real and factual is

          4  the fact I was in an emergency room with my son who

          5  received 40 plus stitches in his mouth, plastic

          6  surgery on the outside of his lip, and to this day

          7  still going through the resolution just to get his

          8  teeth fixed.

          9                 Do I think aluminum bats should not

         10  be allowed? Yes, I do.

         11                 You spoke about Danny Almante, he's

         12  on the high end of the scale of say an athlete, but

         13  if he's playing with a ten-year-old that maybe don't

         14  have the skills as him, that little kid is in grave

         15  danger, because of someone like that with that

         16  talent.

         17                 There's no separation with talent as

         18  far as that goes.

         19                 So, I really feel that something

         20  should be done, common sense has to play in here

         21  somewhere and not just statistics.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. Ricci, would

         23  you son like to make a statement before we open it

         24  up to questions?

         25                 MR. RICCI: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Certainly as a

          3  parent of 12 year old and a 14 year old I sympathize

          4  greatly. I can't imagine having to sit in the

          5  emergency room with either of my sweet boys in any

          6  kind of serious injury or pain; however, you know,

          7  don't we acknowledge that when we allow our children

          8  to play organized sports, just about any sport, that

          9  there is some risk of injury?

         10                 MR. RICCI: I absolutely agree with

         11  that. But does it have to take a tragedy for us to

         12  cut, to lessen our odds at that injury?

         13                 Do we have to wait for someone to get

         14  killed to then turn around and say, you know what?

         15  Maybe we shouldn't use aluminum bats. If it wasn't

         16  about dollars and cents, we probably wouldn't be

         17  using them today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: God forbid we

         19  should have an injury on that level. It would be

         20  rather, you know, tragic. But isn't it possible that

         21  we'd have an injury on that level with a wooden bat

         22  as well?

         23                 MR. RICCI: I guess we would lessen

         24  our odds to the fact of an injury.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Now, when you
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          2  talk about Danny Almante playing with a ten year

          3  old, and, of course, I think we kind of found out

          4  that Danny Almante was probably a little bit older

          5  than he should have been playing Little League Ball,

          6  and you're talking about probably the best pitcher

          7  that's been in Little League Baseball in the City of

          8  New York in recent memory, pitching to a ten year

          9  old, aren't we also at risk that Danny Almante will

         10  lose control of his fast ball and hit that ten year

         11  old in the head and cause just as serious and tragic

         12  an injury?

         13                 MR. RICCI: Yes. I guess that's why

         14  when I played Little League we had helmets with no

         15  ear flaps, and that's why today we have helmets with

         16  ear flaps, probably to prevent an injury from Danny

         17  Almante losing control of the fast ball.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: But the ten year

         19  old who is swinging the bat, whether it's aluminum

         20  or wood, is swinging the bat at the bat speed of a

         21  ten year old.

         22                 MR. RICCI: Correct. But the bat speed

         23  that he has with the aluminum bat compared to the

         24  bat speed he has with the wooden bat would make the

         25  difference, and we're trying to prevent the ten year
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          2  old from being injured, not Danny Almante in this

          3  instance.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I guess my point,

          5  and I want to do it as gently as possible, is that

          6  we all kind of, you know, our heart's in our throat

          7  every time our kids go out and play ball. I'm sorry

          8  that my wife's not here to testify. Her concern

          9  about my kids playing Little League Ball, with a

         10  story that she read that if a child gets hit by a

         11  ball with a sufficient impact, at a certain part of

         12  their chest they will die. And she had a great

         13  hesitation about permitting our boys to play Little

         14  League, they love to play Little League, they play

         15  baseball behind the house, in the alley, at the

         16  school yard as well, and, you know, there's a

         17  certain inherent risk in activities that we do that

         18  aren't -- I mean, it's not necessary that we play

         19  baseball. We could eliminate all risk by eliminating

         20  baseball. I would never support that.

         21                 So, no need to respond to that, I'm

         22  just making a point. And I do want to say that I'm

         23  glad, I'm sure we're all glad that your son is here.

         24  I hope he's able to get back on the pitcher's mound

         25  and enjoy the game in good health and safety,
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          2  regardless of the kind of bats that are being used.

          3                 MR. RICCI: I just want to also bring

          4  the fact, you said the "pitcher's mound," he wasn't

          5  pitching at the time. He was playing third base.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay.

          7                 MR. RICCI: So, it's not just a

          8  problem for the pitcher, it's also as well as the

          9  other in-fielders.

         10                 And as far as to the fact you said

         11  about your wife with the heart.

         12                 They do have a piece of safety

         13  equipment that you can wear for Little Leaguers,

         14  it's called the "heart guard," which protects that.

         15  So, if we were on the other end of this and we were

         16  sitting here to try and get a piece of safety

         17  equipment manufactured that someone could make money

         18  from, we wouldn't be here. It probably would be done

         19  already.

         20                 But because it's the fact that

         21  someone is going to lose money, we need to go

         22  through this. I don't see the common sense part of

         23  it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. Ricci --

         25                 MR. RICCI: If there were five deaths
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          2  on the corner outside and we wanted a traffic light,

          3  there would probably be a traffic light there. But

          4  because there are only five deaths in baseball, and

          5  it's a multi-million dollar industry, it's not going

          6  to get done. I think it should be done.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Yes, I want to

          8  assure you of one thing, and I can only speak for

          9  myself in this regard, is that if I were convinced,

         10  and I am to be convinced that aluminum bats pose an

         11  unreasonable risk as opposed to wooden bats, I

         12  wouldn't care a wit for the profits of the bat

         13  companies. That's not what we're here about.

         14                 However, if I'm not convinced, then

         15  it would be grossly unfair to make that change, and

         16  additionally unfair, to of all of the various Little

         17  Leagues that would have to replace their entire

         18  supply of bats, and I don't know that the City is

         19  prepared or able to pay for that.

         20                 Safety first, but I guess the issue

         21  that, you know, we're still looking at and will look

         22  at for the rest of the day and probably into the

         23  future is whether or not the science establishes

         24  what you believe anecdotally, and that's the issue

         25  before us today.
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          2                 Councilman Oddo, do you have anything

          3  you want to say?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman.

          6                 As I said, I think in the opening

          7  statement, Mr. Chairman, you just reiterated it, we

          8  all assume the risk when we play sports, it's when

          9  that risk becomes unreasonable that we have to do

         10  something. And I don't think you can make the

         11  analogy between Danny Almante's arm and a kid

         12  swinging a metal bat. A kid doesn't have to be

         13  swinging a metal bat, a kid is swinging a metal bat

         14  because there is a $300 million industry propelling

         15  it.

         16                 Mr. Ricci, I want to thank you for

         17  coming down today, and I want to thank you for sort

         18  of injecting some real world into this Enron-like

         19  mentality we heard from.

         20                 You're talking about the diamond

         21  where your son plays, they're talking about it from

         22  the perspective of a corporate headquarters.

         23                 And I want to say to Anthony, I want

         24  to apologize to Anthony, because it's very difficult

         25  for me to be able to put all the data that some of
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          2  my colleagues are questioning and what these folks

          3  love to say doesn't exist. It's difficult for me to

          4  get all of that in one place. They make it

          5  difficult. There are lots of people who don't want

          6  me to have that data, and if I had that data, I

          7  think that we'd have a much easier time passing this

          8  legislation.

          9                 But I want to tell you that I saw

         10  your face, and I'm as committed as day one to making

         11  sure that this bill becomes a reality and that your

         12  friends don't have to go through what you went

         13  through.

         14                 I just have one question for you.

         15  Could you just tell the Chairman about that play,

         16  when you saw the ball, how you got the glove up, so

         17  he understands your reaction time?

         18                 ANTHONY RICCI: Well, when I was

         19  playing it was --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Pull the

         21  microphone a little closer, buddy.

         22                 ANTHONY RICCI: -- It was third base,

         23  and before I like even saw the ball it was almost

         24  halfway to me before I saw it. And just as a reflex

         25  I kind of just threw my glove up and tipped it the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            136

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  slightest bit, like I didn't even know it was

          3  coming, and I just luckily got the glove there to

          4  block it a little bit. It came right down into my

          5  mouth, and I was just stunned because I really

          6  didn't even know what happened at first. And I just

          7  had to like sit down and I was rushed to the

          8  hospital. And like all this was going on and I was

          9  just kind of sitting there like what just happened.

         10  I didn't even know -- I didn't even realize it hit

         11  me at first. It was just like, it was almost like I

         12  was like awe struck that something like that could

         13  even happen, like a ball could come that fast at me

         14  that I wouldn't even see it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You got a

         16  portion of your glove up? I'm sorry, you got your

         17  glove up to hit a portion of the ball, to stop a

         18  portion of the ball?

         19                 ANTHONY RICCI: Yes, the slightest

         20  bit. I just kind of deflected it down into my mouth

         21  instead of it going into like my nose and my eye.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: My last

         23  question, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Anthony, do you know what type of

         25  bat, what model bat the kid was using?
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          2                 ANTHONY RICCI: I don't know what

          3  company it was made by, but I think it was the C555

          4  bat.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: C555 bat.

          6                 Thank you, Anthony.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Ricci.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Anthony, one

          9  question, what type of glove were you using?

         10                 ANTHONY RICCI: What type of glove was

         11  I using?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: In-fielders

         13  glove, out-fielder's glove.

         14                 ANTHONY RICCI: In-fielder's glove.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: In-fielder's

         16  glove.

         17                 ANTHONY RICCI: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thanks.

         19                 Thank you, both, for joining us

         20  today. And I appreciate you coming down here. I

         21  know, Anthony, it must be hard for you, but we do

         22  appreciate your testimony very, very much.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 ANTHONY RICCI: You're welcome.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Our next group of
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          2  witnesses, and I told you that Louisville Slugger

          3  was coming next, but we're not going to do that

          4  because there are people who have a serious flight

          5  problem, they're going to come up together.

          6                 Steve Keener from Little League

          7  Baseball; Fred Mueller from USA Baseball; Paul

          8  Seiler from USA Baseball; Abraham Kay from P.O.N.Y.

          9  Baseball and Softball. And I apologize to the next

         10  witness, I'm probably going to really destroy this

         11  name. Joe Smiegocki, from Babe Ruth Baseball.

         12                 Thank you, gentlemen, and I apologize

         13  for the delay in bringing you up here.

         14                 Take it as you like it, folks. Which

         15  ever one of you wants to.

         16                 MR. KEENER: Is it on?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: It's on.

         18                 MR. KEENER: Well, good afternoon, Mr.

         19  Chairman. I'm Steve Keener, President and Chief

         20  Executive Officer of Little League Baseball

         21  International. I'll let the other gentlemen

         22  introduce themselves as they speak. I'd just like to

         23  make a couple of comments, and then certainly I

         24  would be happy to answer any questions that I'm

         25  qualified to answer.
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